#### University of Alberta

## Comorbidity, body composition and the progression of advanced colorectal cancer

by

Jessica Rose Larkin Lieffers

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Nutrition and Metabolism

Department of Agricultural, Food & Nutritional Science

©Jessica Rose Larkin Lieffers Fall 2010 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

## **Examining Committee**

Vickie Baracos, Oncology & Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

Linda McCargar, Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

Konrad Fassbender, Oncology

#### Abstract

The purpose of this work was to further understand nutritional status, especially body weight and composition, during colorectal cancer progression. Populationbased studies of colorectal cancer patients were conducted using administrative health data (primary and co-morbid diseases, demographics), and computed tomography (CT) imaging (body composition). In cohort 1, administrative health data was used to study comorbidities and nutritional status in 574 colorectal cancer patients referred for chemotherapy. Multivariate Cox regression revealed several comorbidities, performance status and weight loss  $\geq$ 20% predicted survival. In cohort 2, a serial CT image analysis assessed longitudinal body composition changes during the last 12 months preceding death from colorectal cancer (n=34). Body composition changes were typified by exponential increases in liver metastases with concurrent accelerations of muscle and fat loss. These results have the potential to make a difference in how colorectal cancer patients are treated and researched by dietitians, oncologists, and health services researchers.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was made possible from financial support provided by the following agencies: Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Alberta Cancer Foundation, Alberta Health Services, Dietitians of Canada, Government of Alberta, University of Alberta, and University of Alberta Graduate Students' Association.

This thesis would not have been achievable without the contribution and support of several important people.

I would first like to thank my supervisor Dr. Vickie Baracos. I am grateful for all of the support that you have provided while I have been a graduate student. I truly had the opportunity to learn how to conduct research and how to effectively present it to others from one of the best. I want to thank you for teaching me to think critically, for all of the stimulating discussions, for all of the feedback on analysis and manuscripts, and for always pushing me to the next level. I am also extremely appreciative for all of the academic and professional opportunities that you have provided such as allowing me to present at international conferences and involving me in several unique projects. I don't believe this would have been possible had I not been a student under your guidance. I value your generosity in making many social events possible- I don't think many people can say that they had their nails done with their graduate supervisor. I am delighted I had the opportunity to learn from one of the great ones and I will always remember my time working with you.

I would also like to thank members of my supervisory committee: Dr. Konrad Fassbender and Dr. Linda McCargar. I really appreciate all of the guidance, expertise, support, and encouragement that you have provided me during my time as a Masters student. This work would not have possible without you. I would also like to thank Dr. Rene Jacobs for being the chair for my thesis defense.

I would also like to acknowledge the support of Dr. Marina Mourtzakis. I want to firstly thank you for all of the information that you taught me on CT image analysis and body composition and for being so patient and such a good teacher when I first began as a NUFS 401 student. I also want to thank you for all of the discussions and ongoing support, and for making me enthusiastic about research. I am both delighted and grateful that I had the opportunity to work with you.

I would also like to express thanks to Lisa Martin for ongoing support and assistance during my time as a Masters student. The support you provided with the PG-SGA database was instrumental for completion of the study described in Chapter 2.

I would like to thank Dr. Sunita Ghosh for providing statistical advice needed to conduct the study presented in Chapter 2. This work would have not have been

possible without your guidance. I thoroughly enjoyed our discussions about various statistical topics. I will never forget working with you and I am extraordinarily grateful for all of the help that you provided.

I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Marcy Winget and Chalotte King from Community Oncology, Alberta Health Services – Cancer Care, for providing the inpatient administrative health data needed for the work presented in Chapter 2. The work presented in Chapter 3 would not have been possible without the assistance of Dr. Kevin Hall from the NIH, who ran the computational model of human metabolism, and Pierrette Pham and Abigail Tonkin who assisted with CT image analysis.

I would also like to thank all of the current and former members of the nutrition research group at the Cross Cancer Institute. I would like to especially express gratitude to Carla Prado, Rachel Murphy, Cynthia Stretch, Nina Esfandiari, Britt-Marie Bernhardson, and Daena Lamoureux. I have enjoyed interacting with all of you and you have been the ones that have made this time enjoyable and fun.

I would also like to thank the patients and their families who participated in this study. You are truly inspirational and this work would not have been possible without your generosity and support.

Lastly, but not least, I would like to thank my family (V, P, C, and E). I don't even know what to say but thank you for everything.

#### **Table of Contents**

1.1 Purpose	1
1.2 Introduction	1
1.3 Cancer trajectories and prognostication	2
1.4 Comorbidities as a cancer prognostic indicator	3
1.5 Nutritional status as a cancer prognostic indicator	8
1.5.1 Malnutrition	
1.5.1.1 Detecting Malnutrition with Nutrition Screening	10
1.5.2 Cancer related malnutrition	11
1.5.2.1 Cancer cachexia	13
1.5.2.2 Obesity and cancer weight loss	14
1.5.2.3 Body weight, weight loss and cancer summary	15
1.6 Body Composition	16
1.6.1 Body composition assessment	16
1.6.2 Body composition and cancer	19
1.7 Summary	21
1.8 Hypothesis	22
1.9 Objectives	23
Figures	25
References	26

# **CHAPTER 2:** A comparison of Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidity measures to predict colorectal cancer survival using administrative health data

2.1 Introduction	35
2.2 Methods	37
2.2.1 Patient population, demographics, and cancer-related variables	37
2.2.2 Comorbidities	38
2.2.2.1 Charlson and Elixhauser methods	39
2.2.2.2 Augmented Elixhauser method	39
2.2.3 Statistical Analysis	40
2.3 Results	42
2.3.1 Demographic and cancer-related variables	42
2.3.2 Comorbidities	42
2.3.2.1 Charlson and Elixhauser Comorbidities	42
2.3.2.2 Augmented Elixhauser comorbidities	43
2.3.3 Robust Poisson model discrimination	44
2.4 Discussion	45
2.5 Conclusion	48
Tables	49
Endnote	55
References	56

# **CHAPTER 3:** A viscerally-driven cachexia syndrome in patients with advanced colorectal cancer: contributions of organ and tumor mass to whole body energy demands

3.1 Introduction	60
3.2 Subjects and Methods	61
3.2.1 Retrospective cohort	61
3.2.2 CT image analysis	
3.2.3 Prospective Cohort	64
3.2.4 Mathematical Model Simulations	64
3.2.5 Data Analysis	66
3.3 Results	66
3.3.1 Retrospective Cohort	
3.3.2 Prospective Cohort	68
3.3.3 Simulation Results	
3.4 Discussion	70
3.4.1 Methodological Considerations	71
3.4.2 Implications of High Metabolic Rate Tissues on Body Composition and Resting Energy Expenditure	73
Tables	75
Figures	
Endnote	81
References	

### **CHAPTER 4: Final Discussion**

4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Key points for the Dietitian	
4.3 Key Points for the Oncologist	
4.4 Key Points for the Health Services Researcher	100
Tables	105
Figures	108
References	

Table 2-1   Population characteristics (n=574)	49
<b>Table 2-2</b> Prevalence of Charlson comorbidities (CM) and relationship with all cause mortality in stage 2-4 colorectal cancer patients (n=574)	50
<b>Table 2-3</b> Prevalence of Elixhauser comorbidities (CM) and relationship with all cause mortality in stage 2-4 colorectal cancer patients (n=574)	51-52
<b>Table 2-4</b> Elixhauser and Charlson comorbidity method discrimination for2- and 3-year all cause mortality in stage 2-4 colorectal cancerpatients	53
Table 2-5   Elixhauser and Charlson comorbidity method discrimination for   2- and 3-year all cause mortality by stage in colorectal cancer   patients	54
Table 3-1   Absolute tissue masses quantified with computed tomography (CT)   imaging in patients who died of colorectal cancer	75
<b>Table 4-1</b> The prevalence of Elixhauser comorbidities (CM) and theirrelationship with the presence of sarcopenia, underweight, andobesity in colorectal cancer patients seen in new patient medicaloncology clinics (n=489)	<u>105-106</u>
Table 4-2   Body weight and composition characteristics in deceased colorectal cancer patients seen in new patient medical oncology clinics categorized by time to death (n=527)	107

## List of Tables

Figure 1-1 Study timeline and typical Kaplan Meier curves for colorectal cancer survival by stage	25
<b>Figure 3-1</b> Representative patients showing change in (a) liver and spleen and (b) skeletal muscle and adipose tissue	76
<b>Figure 3-2</b> Time course rates of gain or loss for liver (including metastases), muscle, and adipose tissue from the retrospective colorectal cancer patient cohort $(n=34)$	77
<b>Figure 3-3</b> Relation between measured resting energy expenditure (REE) and liver mass in the prospective colorectal cancer patient cohort (n=18)	78
<b>Figure 3-4</b> <sup>18</sup> F-Deoxyglucose positron emission tomography (PET) scan of a patient with extensive liver metastases	79
<b>Figure 3-5</b> Simulation of resting energy expenditure (REE) over 62 weeks based on measured liver and spleen masses from the retrospective colorectal cancer patient cohort (n=34)	80
<b>Figure 4-1</b> Relationship between measured and predicted REE (using the Harris Benedict equation (HBE)) from the prospective cohort (n=18) described in Chapter 3	_108

## List of Figures

### List of Abbreviations

AJCC	American Joint Committee on Cancer
ANOVA	analysis of variance
BIA	bioelectrical impedance analysis
BMI	body mass index
C statistic	concordance statistic
CI	confidence interval
СМ	comorbidity
$cm^2$	centimeter(s) squared
cm <sup>3</sup>	centimeter(s) cubed
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
СТ	computed tomography
CV	coefficient of variation
d	day(s)
DXA	dual energy x-ray absorptiometry
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
FFM	fat free mass
FM	fat mass
g	gram(s)
HIV/AIDS	Human Immunodeficiency Virus /Acquired Immununodeficiency
	Syndrome
HR	hazard ratio
ICD	International Classification of Diseases

ICD-O International Classification of Diseases in Oncolog	y
---	---

- ICD-9-CM International Classification of Diseases, 9<sup>th</sup> Revision, Clinical Modification
- IRR Incidence rate ratio
- kcal kilocalorie(s)
- kg kilogram
- L3 third lumbar vertebrae
- L liter(s)
- m<sup>2</sup> meter(s) squared
- mg milligram
- mm millimeter(s)
- MNA Mini Nutritional Assessment
- MRI magnetic resonance imaging
- MST Malnutrition Screening Tool
- MUST Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool
- NHANES National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
- NRS-2002 Nutritional Risk Screening
- OR odds ratio
- PEG percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy
- PG-SGA Patient Generated Subjective Global Assessment
- REE resting energy expenditure
- ROC receiver operating characteristic
- SD standard deviation

- TNM Tumor, Nodes, and Metastasis
- WHO World Health Organization
- yr(s) year(s)

#### **CHAPTER 1: Introduction and literature review**

#### **1.1 Purpose**

The main purpose of this chapter is to provide an understanding of nutritional status, more specifically body weight and body composition, during the progression of colorectal cancer, and how it is an important, yet underutilized prognostic indicator.

#### **1.2 Introduction**

The Canadian Cancer Society reports that colorectal cancer is the third most common cause of new cancer cases in both males and females and second leading cause of cancer related death in Canada (1). Overall, men have a 1 in 14 chance and women a 1 in 15 chance of having colorectal cancer in their lifetime (1).

Even though colorectal cancer screening processes have improved substantially over the last several years, many patients are still diagnosed in the advanced stages of disease (2), where treatments are only given with the intention to prolong survival time or reduce symptoms. Men have a 1 in 27 chance and women have a 1 in 31 chance of dying from colorectal cancer in Canada (1). Overall 5 year survival rates from 1999-2005 for colorectal cancer were 65.2% for all stages combined and more specifically were 90.8% for localized stages, 69.5% for regional stages and 11.3% for distant stages (2). A representative Kaplan Meier curve depicting survival by American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) stage is shown in **Figure 1-1** (3). Patients with cancer are often very

interested in determining their survival time and often more so than those suffering from other chronic diseases (4).

#### **1.3 Cancer trajectories and prognostication**

Cancer trajectories and prognosis are highly related to one another. Trajectories in health can be defined as the course of events following a cancer diagnosis. Specifically, a cancer disease trajectory is the path a patient's health status follows after receiving a cancer diagnosis. Overall, they are commonly characterized by a gradual health/functional decline over a timeframe of months to years, with an accelerated decline in the final weeks to months of life (5-7). Patients, health care professionals, and researchers are interested in determining factors which affect both the length and pattern of the disease trajectory.

Prognostication, which is defined as a prediction or a forecast of the future course of events (i.e., death) based on present status, can also be described as predicting the cancer disease trajectory. Prognosis can be estimated by physicians based on clinical/subjective judgment, or by using statistical methods encompassing a large selection of indicators (8). Disease specific factors including tumor type, stage, and grade (9) are perhaps some of the most important prognostic indicators. Several patient specific prognostic factors also exist which can influence survival. These include age, gender, genetic factors, symptoms, performance status, psychosocial factors, comorbidities (the concurrent presence of non malignant disease) (8) and nutritional status (10). These factors help to explain why survival may be different in patients with similar disease characteristics. Prognostication is of interest and important for cancer patients, their families and health care professionals. Because both nutritional and medical treatments are based on prognosis, it helps to determine what type of therapies should be used. It also helps to determine when is the appropriate time to transfer patients into different care settings, if necessary (e.g., palliative care) (7) and allows the patient and their friends and family to plan their remaining time.

Comorbidities and nutritional status, which are both important prognostic factors, will be discussed in more detail in this Chapter.

#### **1.4 Comorbidities as a cancer prognostic indicator**

The simultaneous presence of non-malignant diseases (comorbidities) is common in colorectal cancer patients and has been shown to be an important contributing prognostic factor to overall survival (11-14). Comorbidity information can be procured from different types of data sources (e.g., self report, medical records, pharmacy records, and administrative data) (15).

Administrative health data is collected primarily for billing purposes after each encounter with the health system. It is especially advantageous in population based studies. This is because it has the ability to capture relatively accurate data at a low cost on populations from diverse geographical areas that were treated at different facilities (15, 16). Compilation of this data begins after a patient has encountered the health system which includes events such hospitalization or visiting a physician. After using the health system, information including demographics, relevant diagnoses and procedures, admission and discharge dates are extracted from patient charts by health records personnel.

Diagnoses relevant to the encounter with the health system are coded using World Health Organization (WHO) International Classification of Disease (ICD) diagnostic codes.

World Health Organization ICD diagnostic codes are an international language used to track information on diseases, signs, symptoms, causes of injury and reasons for using the health care system; it is currently on its 10<sup>th</sup> version which began use in 1992 (17). Canadian provinces began to phase in this coding system for hospital diagnoses in 2001 (18). In the 10<sup>th</sup> version, each disease, sign, symptom, cause of injury and reason for using the health care system is given a unique alphanumeric code (e.g., C20: malignant neoplasm of rectum). These codes are used to track and compare health status, causes of death and health utilization patterns from different populations across large geographical regions. They are also used to compile morbidity and mortality information by the WHO which allows comparisons between countries. These codes are used in different settings for diverse purposes including billing, health services research and epidemiology (19). For administrative inpatient hospitalization data in Alberta, each abstract (or summary of the hospitalization event) contains spaces for up to 16 ICD diagnostic codes which can be used to obtain information on comorbidities.

Of interest for nutrition research is that weight and nutrition related conditions can be captured using ICD 10 codes including protein energy malnutrition (ICD 10: E40–E46), obesity (ICD 10: E66) and weight changes (ICD 10: R63.4: abnormal weight loss, R64: cachexia, R63.5: abnormal weight gain).

There are also ICD 10 codes available to capture micronutrient deficiency malnutrition (ICD 10: E50–E64) and micronutrient hyperalimentation (ICD 10: E67). Of note, the ability of administrative health data to properly capture weight and protein energy malnutrition related data has been suggested to be poor (20, 21), but remains unclear.

Comorbidities can be searched in administrative health data by choosing the appropriate data source (e.g., inpatient hospitalization data), the specific index date or event and looking back in the data for comorbidities recorded from encounters with the health system occurring on or before that event. A time period of 1 year from an index date has been commonly used in previous studies to assess comorbidity burden (22-24). Longer look back periods may identify more information on comorbidities (with both an increase in the number of patients with comorbidities and the number of comorbidities per patient). However, others have found that the majority of hospitalizations occur within 6-12 months from an index date (25) and the comorbidities identified only in hospitalizations further from the index date may be less important compared to those identified closer (22, 25).

After the database, index date and look back period have been chosen, ICD codes from the dataset can be aggregated into groupings for different comorbid conditions (22, 26-28). Two of the most popular groupings for comorbidities using administrative health data are the Charlson (29) and Elixhauser (26) methods.

The Charlson method (29) is the most well known measure used to assess and risk adjust for comorbidity burden in administrative health data for cancer and other patient populations. It encompasses 19 conditions which were found to be predictive of 1 year death in 559 hospitalized internal medicine patients. Originally, it was developed using a chart review, but it has been subsequently adapted for use with administrative health data (22, 27, 28). Both the number and severity of conditions are summarized in a single weighted score. Even though the Charlson method has been used to successfully predict different types of outcomes in diverse populations (22, 29), several issues have been raised. These include the inclusion of conditions that may not predict survival (e.g., history of myocardial infarction at a distant prior time), weights for the different conditions that may not be appropriate for use for different populations and outcomes beyond the derivation cohort, and the concern that single score indices are an oversimplification of actual comorbidity complexity (26, 28, 30). It has also been suggested that using each Charlson comorbidity category as an individual binary variable in statistical models may be a superior risk adjustment method compared to the score based measure (31). The Elixhauser method was created as an attempt to address some of these limitations.

The Elixhauser method (26) is a newer approach which encompasses 31 conditions (including two weight related conditions: obesity and weight loss); this technique was developed and validated by predicting hospital charges, in-hospital mortality and length of stay using a large administrative database encompassing all 1992 California adult acute care inpatient hospitalizations (n=1,779,167). The

Elixhauser method is not a single weighted score like the Charlson index; each comorbidity category is treated as a separate entity (or binary variable).

Comorbidities are an important determinant of outcomes and are a very common finding in cancer patients. They are also complex as patients can have different types, combinations, and severities of disease. It is therefore important to consider comorbidities and their differing impact on outcomes when attempting to determine the unbiased relationship between an independent variable and outcome of interest (e.g., survival) in cancer patients. The Charlson and Elixhauser measures are two methods available to address this issue.

Risk adjustment is the process of accounting for differences in population characteristics (e.g., age, sex, comorbidities etc.) with the goal of obtaining the true relationship between a specific independent variable(s) and outcome of interest. This is an important process for most outcome studies (32) and plays an important role in model building.

In statistics, the overall goal of model building is to select the best and minimum number of variables which will lead to a model that predicts an outcome of interest and can be generalized to similar populations (33). When building a multivariate statistical model, in addition to including variables with statistical significance at the univariate level (p < 0.1), it is important to include those which have clinical or biological significance (33). Building a model using this method will help to ensure an unbiased relationship between the outcome and independent variable(s) of interest.

The Elixhauser method is suggested to be a superior comorbidity risk adjustment method in hospitalized patients with respiratory and cardiac conditions (25, 34), and osteoarthritis (23) compared to the Charlson method. Studies comparing Elixhauser and Charlson in cancer patients are scarce (24). The Charlson method is more commonly used to risk adjust for comorbidities in cancer studies; however, based on results from other populations, this may not be the best choice. This still requires further investigation.

#### 1.5 Nutritional status as a cancer prognostic indicator

Nutritional status has been described as an important prognostic factor in cancer (10) and other diseases (35). It can be thought of as a person's well being in terms of the balance between intake and use of nutrients.

#### **1.5.1 Malnutrition**

Malnutrition can be defined when there is an excess or more commonly a deficiency of calories, protein and other nutrients which causes effects on one or more of the following: body size, shape and composition, function and outcomes (36). In adults from developed countries, malnutrition is most commonly associated with disease (35) (e.g., renal disease, HIV/AIDS, neurogenerative disease, liver disease, chronic heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and cancer, and often more severely if present in the elderly). Disease associated malnutrition frequently results in a loss of body weight and especially fat free mass (FFM) ultimately due to requirements exceeding intakes.

Malnutrition can be caused by a combination of one or more of the following factors depending on the individual and the disease in question: factors

that can alter nutrient intake, factors that increase nutrient losses, and factors that increase nutrient requirements. Factors which may result in altered (or decreased) dietary intakes could include gastrointestinal obstructions or medications which may cause symptoms that hinder dietary intakes or lead to anorexia (35). Inadequate absorption of nutrients from the gastrointestinal tract can result in increased nutrient losses. Systemic inflammation and increases in other catabolic factors can result in altered metabolism (35, 37) and lead to increases in resting energy expenditure (REE), the amount of calories expended at rest, to a hypermetabolic state. A hypermetabolic state is generally regarded as a REE  $\geq$ 110% predicted using methods such as the Harris Benedict Equation (38, 39). Social factors such as living alone and low educational status (40) can also increase the risk of malnutrition.

Typically malnutrition is associated with weight loss and/or low BMI values. However, because of the rise in obesity in the Canadian population (41) and worldwide, this may no longer be completely the case. This rise in obesity is directly relevant to the field of oncology and other chronic diseases because obesity is a well established risk factor for cancer and many other chronic diseases (42, 43). Using colorectal cancer as an example, it was recently estimated using the population attributable fraction method that obesity was responsible for 16.2% and 12.5% of colorectal cancer in men and women, respectively in Canada (43). Therefore, we expect many colorectal cancer patients presenting for treatment are obese. However, it is also important for health care professionals to suspect malnutrition in patients even in the presence

of obesity, especially if there has been involuntary weight loss (44) as this could signal loss of skeletal muscle which may result in sarcopenic obesity. Sarcopenic obesity can be defined as a muscle mass < 2SD below the healthy young adult mean in the presence of obesity (45, 46). It has been associated with poor outcomes (45-47).

Malnutrition has been reported to be associated with several types of outcomes including decreased survival, increased morbidity (including surgical complications, infections, poor wound healing, poor performance status, and increased length of hospital stay) (35), increased complexity (48), and costs of care (49-51). In order for these outcomes to be prevented, it is important that malnutrition is diagnosed and treated early.

#### **1.5.1.1 Detecting Malnutrition with Nutrition Screening**

In patients with malnutrition, early intervention with nutritional therapy is important to increase likelihood of positive outcomes. The intention of nutritional screening is to identify patients who are at nutritional risk by searching for factors associated with malnutrition. Different tools such as the Patient Generated Subjective Global Assessment (PG-SGA), Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST), Nutritional Risk Screening (NRS-2002), the Mini Nutritional Assessment® (MNA®), and the Malnutrition Screening Tool (MST) (52, 53) are available to screen patients which can either be completed by a health care professional or sometimes by the patient themselves. They frequently encompass questions asking about body weight, weight history, height, dietary intakes, symptoms which may interfere with nutrition intake and other factors. Body

weight measures such as body weight standardized to height (body mass index (BMI) [BMI = weight (kg) / height ( $m^2$ )]) and weight change, are perhaps the most commonly used variables for this purpose. In cancer patients, the PG-SGA has been the most extensively validated nutrition screening tool, and is currently the most well regarded and common tool in this population (52, 53).

Having different nutritional screening tools and techniques can be regarded as beneficial as they may be better suited to detect malnutrition in different populations. However, the tools use slightly different criteria (such as different BMI and weight loss cutpoints, different ways to classify nutritional intake compared to normal) to determine whether a patient is at nutritional risk. This helps explain why there is a large diversity in reported prevalence rates of malnutrition in different patient populations and can make studies difficult to compare (35, 54).

Patients who are deemed to be at nutritional risk from screening should undergo a full nutrition assessment by a dietitian or other nutrition professional. A nutrition assessment is a more comprehensive examination of the patient to determine their nutritional status which will allow the prescription of proper therapies. It includes medical, social, and diet histories, anthropometry, body composition, and biochemical measures (55, 56) and should be repeated over time to determine the effectiveness of the nutrition therapy (57).

#### **1.5.2 Cancer related malnutrition**

Malnutrition is common in cancer patients (58). In clinical settings, no formal criteria exist and it can be assessed in many different ways, but it is

commonly assessed in cancer patients using weight loss (59) starting at  $\geq 5\%$ and/or BMI < 20. Weight loss can occur at different times during the cancer trajectory. It can be among the first symptoms of disease for many patients and is known to be highly prevalent near the end of the disease trajectory (60). It is more prevalent in patients with solid tumors, advanced disease, and the elderly (61). Dewys et al. (10) revealed that weight loss 6 months prior to chemotherapy was common in cancer patients where curative options were not possible. Overall, across all tumor groups, a weight loss 5–10% was reported in 17% of patients and a weight loss of > 10% was reported in 15% of patients. Weight loss was most common among patients with gastric and pancreatic cancer. Specifically, in colon cancer patients, 14% reported a weight loss of 5–10%, and 14% reported a weight loss > 10%.

Cancer patients develop weight loss at diagnosis and throughout the rest of the disease trajectory due to several factors including tumor type and stage (62). The tumor itself may require energy for its own needs and may also cause changes in host metabolism which can result in inefficient use of nutrients and an increase in whole body metabolic needs (63). Overall, resting energy expenditure (REE) is suggested to be higher in cancer patients than healthy individuals, but high levels of variability have been reported (60, 64-66). This variability is not completely understood. Factors that predict hypermetabolism in cancer patients include advanced stage disease, a longer duration of disease, and an acute phase protein response (60, 66, 67). Symptoms from the tumor itself and the treatment (such as abdominal fullness, taste changes, vomiting, and mouth dryness) have

also been found to be more common in patients with weight loss (68). These symptoms may cause insufficient dietary intakes. When we combine inadequate dietary intakes in a person with increased needs, weight loss will occur because the body is forced to draw upon peripheral energy stores to meet needs.

Malnutrition in cancer patients is associated with many different types of consequences throughout the disease trajectory; decreased survival, reduced treatment response and poor quality of life are among the most commonly reported (10, 69). Body weight loss generally mirrors the cancer trajectory, with an accelerated decline in the final weeks to months of life (5), with cachexia appearing in the end stage.

#### 1.5.2.1 Cancer cachexia

Cachexia is a Greek term, kakos (bad) hexis (condition), which translates into 'bad condition' (i.e., severe skeletal muscle and fat loss). Hippocrates (460-370 BC) first described cachexia as a condition where "...the flesh is consumed and becomes water... the abdomen fills with water, the feet and legs swell, the shoulders, clavicles, chest, and thighs melt away... This illness is fatal". In addition to severe weight loss, patients with cachexia frequently possess a group of unfavorable symptoms including anorexia, early satiety, edema, weakness and anemia which results in several unfavorable outcomes including decreased quality of life, diminished performance status, poor treatment tolerance and decreased survival (70-72). A classic post mortem analysis study from the 1930s revealed that cachexia was the cause of death in ~20% of colorectal cancer patients (73),

which is likely due to the loss of respiratory muscle function (70) and poor immune status.

Despite the number of advanced cancer patients affected with severe weight loss, a formal definition of cancer cachexia has been lacking. This lack of a formal definition was recently highlighted by Fox et al. who found that the prevalence of cachexia varied substantially depending on the definition (74). Fearon et al. (75) suggested that cancer cachexia could be considered present if a patient had a 10% weight loss, a dietary intake < 1500 kcal/d, and a c-reactive protein (a marker of inflammation) > 10mg/L. To remedy the lack of formal criteria to define cachexia, a consensus definition was recently released which defined cachexia as a complex metabolic syndrome associated with underlying illness and characterized by loss of muscle with or without loss of fat mass (76). Using the new definition, a diagnosis of cachexia can be made if a patient has a weight loss of  $\geq$  5% in 12 months (or a BMI < 20) and three or more of the following criteria: decreased muscle strength, fatigue, anorexia, low FFM index, and abnormal biochemistry (increased c-reactive protein, anemia, low serum albumin) (76).

#### 1.5.2.2 Obesity and cancer weight loss

Obesity and cancer related weight loss is a contemporary topic and merits a special discussion. Currently, it remains unclear to health professionals how to evaluate the nutritional status of cancer patients who are obese. Moreover, obese patients and their families frequently believe cancer associated weight loss is beneficial (77) which is not the case, especially when weight loss encompasses

skeletal muscle. There is also considerable debate on how to best feed obese cancer patients. Should these patients lose weight during their disease, should they maintain their weight, or should they try to gain weight? One new phenomenon we are beginning to better understand and may help to partially answer this question is that obesity may confer a survival advantage in some patients. Over the past 5-10 years, research suggests that being overweight or obese is associated with prolonged survival in patients with a diagnosis of a wasting disease (78-80). This is because these patients are more likely to die from the wasting disease rather than the risks associated with excess body weight such as type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. In wasting diseases, excess adipose tissue becomes an energy reserve which can be mobilized in response to catabolic processes. This has been termed the "obesity paradox" or "reverse epidemiology" phenomenon because this is opposite from how obesity affects survival in the general population. Obesity in the general population is generally associated with decreased survival.

#### 1.5.2.3 Body weight, weight loss and cancer summary

Some weight loss mechanisms may be overtly evident in some patients, such as a patient who is not eating. Unfortunately, despite the number of people affected by both mild and more severe weight loss (i.e., cachexia), many aspects are still poorly understood. Further understanding of body composition and the composition of cancer associated weight change is likely still needed to help increase understanding of cancer associated weight loss.

#### **1.6 Body Composition**

Human body composition is a field of study over 150 years old (81). It can be studied on 5 different levels: atomic, molecular, cellular, tissue-organ, and whole-body (82). The sum of all components at each level of study is equal to body weight.

#### **1.6.1 Body composition assessment**

Body weight is considered the easiest, lowest cost, and crudest measure of body composition. It is a one compartment model as there is no measure of the composition of the body. It does not even make a distinction between the fat mass (FM) and fat free mass (FFM) (which encompasses all non fat tissues in the body including bone) compartments. Body weight is frequently standardized to height and reported as BMI. Body mass index is commonly used to determine weight related health risk as it is correlated with total body fat. A high total body fat is associated with diseases including diabetes, hypertension, heart disease, gallbladder disease and some types of cancer (83, 84). When using BMI, it should be understood that it has several limitations (83) including masking quantities and/or changes in different body tissues which may be associated with different levels of risk and benefit. Body composition measures are therefore needed as they can provide more detail on the different body components associated with different levels of risk.

Body composition assessment partitions the body into two or more components. Many body composition studies use a two component molecular model that separates the body into FFM and FM compartments. Different

techniques are available to provide a whole body estimate of FFM and FM including bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) and air displacement plethysmography (BOD POD®) (85, 86).

Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is a criterion standard method that uses a three compartment molecular model. It partitions the body into the lean soft tissue (muscle, organs, and all other non fat tissues excluding bone mineral), fat mass, and bone mineral compartments (86). Unlike the two compartment methods, DXA also has the ability to provide information on the regional composition of areas such as the head, trunk and appendages. As such, appendicular skeletal muscle mass, which is the total lean soft tissue mass in the arms and legs, can be used as a surrogate for whole body skeletal muscle. Appendicular skeletal muscle represents ~73–75% of whole body skeletal muscle (87). When standardized to height (m<sup>2</sup>), it is commonly used as a measure for sarcopenia (or low muscle mass usually defined as < 2SD below the healthy young adult mean) (88).

Some advantages of tools that partition the body into two or three compartments are the relatively low cost after the initial equipment expense, the ability to perform rapid testing, and low risks associated with the testing procedures. Some disadvantages are lack of ability to account for alterations in hydration status, which is important in individuals with edema and ascites (89). In addition, they do not partition the lean soft tissue compartment into different components with distinct relevance, such as organ tissue and skeletal muscle, and the adipose tissue into subcutaneous, visceral and intermuscular depots.

The tissue organ level examines the mass and proportion of different tissues and organs in the body including adipose tissue (visceral, intermuscular, and subcutaneous depots), skeletal muscle (specific muscles), organs (e.g., liver, spleen, heart, kidneys) and bone (82). This level of study emphasizes that FM and FFM are not homogenous compartments. Specifically, FFM encompasses muscle and organs which have different functions and specific metabolic rates. For example, the specific metabolic rate of skeletal muscle is 13kcal/kg/d which is much lower than the specific metabolic rates for organs (e.g., 200kcal/kg/d for liver, 240kcal/kg/d for brain, and 440kcal/kg/d for heart and kidneys) (90). It is also known that high metabolic rate organs such as liver, brain, spleen, and kidneys encompasses  $\sim 5-6\%$  of body weight despite being responsible for  $\sim 60\%$ of REE (90, 91). Because body composition (and more specifically FFM (92)) is the largest determinant of REE and organ mass is a significant contributor, this level of body composition has been used in the past to successfully model REE in healthy individuals (91, 93).

Computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are criterion standard tools capable of measuring body composition at the tissue organ level. These methods involve taking a series of images which can be used in different ways to determine body composition. A series of images can be analyzed to determine the tissue volume (94); the volume can then be multiplied by tissue specific densities to determine tissue mass (87, 95). In addition, muscle and adipose tissue cross sectional areas (cm<sup>2</sup>) from transverse images taken at standard vertebral landmarks (such as the 3<sup>rd</sup> lumbar vertebrae (L3)) can be used

to provide estimates of whole body muscle and adipose tissue stores in both healthy adults (96) and cancer patients (97). The advantages of CT and MRI are their high validity and reliability (94, 98), however, the disadvantages are that they are expensive, can have long testing times, and may or may not be able to scan individuals with a BMI  $\geq$  40 (89). CT imaging also requires exposure to a radiation dose that would be considered unethical for healthy individuals. This is not an issue in cancer populations as they require CT scanning as part of routine care. This part of the patient record is usually electronically stored and available for secondary body composition assessment (97). This avoids having the patient undergo extra body composition tests for research purposes. This is important as studies with advanced cancer patients with multiple tests and interventions can have high withdrawal rates (99, 100).

#### 1.6.2 Body composition and cancer

Body composition research in colorectal cancer, advanced cancer, and advanced colorectal cancer can still be considered in its infancy especially when looking at measurement at the tissue organ level. In Asia, a few studies used CT imaging to measure the impact of visceral adipose tissue on overall survival (101) and surgical outcomes (102-105) in patients with resectable colorectal cancer. In advanced cancer patients, clinical trial studies using body composition as an outcome measure or research assessing nutritional status of this population from the past 10 years have relied primarily on BIA (106-109) and occasionally DXA (100) to assess body composition. In addition, longitudinal studies of body composition changes in advanced cancer patients are relatively scarce (100, 110).

Despite how commonly two compartment molecular methods are used in the literature to assess body composition, they may not be the best approaches based on work from 25 years ago when CT imaging was first used for body composition assessment (111). Heymsfield and McManus (110) reported in their classic prospective case study evaluation of the body composition changes in cancer patients that different lean soft tissue compartments (i.e., organ, muscle) change in dissimilar ways over the cancer disease trajectory. Specifically in colorectal cancer patients, they found that liver and spleen (which represent high specific metabolic rate tissues) increased as skeletal muscle mass simultaneously decreased. This increase in liver mass may be due to two possible reasons. The first is that liver metastases, which affect ~50% of all colorectal cancer patients (112), can cause increases in liver mass (113). Others also report that the increases in liver size in cancer patients may be due to elevated rates of substrate recycling, gluconeogenesis, and acute phase protein synthesis (70, 114). These findings suggest that if body composition is measured where different lean soft tissues are considered a composite (such as in two or three compartment molecular methods), changes in one type of lean soft tissue may mask changes in another. This may have occurred in a study by Fouladiun et al. (100) who found that the lean soft tissue mass in the trunk increased as time to death neared, whereas in the limbs of the same patients, lean soft tissue was found to have decreased, which would be expected with cachexia.

The work by Heymsfield and McManus (110), although only a case study approach, suggests that body composition assessment in colorectal cancer patients

should be performed at the tissue organ level. Despite these findings, most recent body composition work in advanced cancer patients uses BIA (or DXA) which are not able to discern quantities or changes in different lean soft tissue components. Furthermore, longitudinal studies are missing. This suggests further work is needed in this area.

#### **1.7 Summary**

Many factors have the ability to affect cancer related outcomes which may or may not be considered important by researchers, medical and nutrition professionals. Comorbidities are known to affect cancer related outcomes and are frequently accounted for in cancer studies. However, the best method to risk adjust for comorbidities in cancer patients is unknown and previous work suggests that the most commonly used method may not be the best choice. Nutritional status, despite being an important cancer prognostic indicator has not been consistently used by the medical community including oncologists in the past (48, 115-119). Nonetheless, poor nutritional status is often considered a concern by patients and their families (120). For nutritional status to be considered to be an important cancer prognostic indicator, it is essential to further develop our understanding in this area.

#### **1.8 Hypothesis**

The purpose of this thesis is to investigate the following two hypotheses in colorectal cancer patients:

- Proper risk adjustment for unbiased survival prediction will encompass disease stage, performance status, age, sex and comorbidities (both body weight- and non body weight related conditions).
- 2) Colorectal cancer patients are affected by a viscerally driven cachexia syndrome originating from increasing masses of high metabolic rate tissues, especially liver, spleen, and tumor. The increase in high metabolic rate tissues will result in an elevated resting energy expenditure which will lead to loss of peripheral tissues (i.e., skeletal muscle and adipose tissue).
### **1.9 Objectives**

The objectives of this thesis are as follows:

## **Investigated in Chapter 2:**

- To assess how well the Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidity methods risk adjust for comorbidities derived from administrative inpatient hospitalization data.
- To assess the quality of obesity and weight loss data captured using inpatient hospitalization administrative health data compared to prospectively collected clinical data.
- 3) To evaluate whether replacing the Elixhauser body weight-related comorbidities derived with inpatient hospitalization administrative health data with cancer-appropriate weight variables and performance status derived using clinical data improves the predictive power of the comorbidity measure.

#### **Investigated in Chapter 3:**

- 4) To retrospectively measure with CT imaging longitudinal changes in both peripheral (i.e., muscle and adipose tissue) and high metabolic rate (i.e., liver and spleen) tissues in a cohort of patients during the last year of life.
- 5) To estimate the effect of liver and spleen changes on whole body resting energy expenditure during the last year of life using a computational model of human metabolism.
- 6) To prospectively evaluate the relationship between resting energy expenditure determined by indirect calorimetry and organ mass.

A timeline showing where these studies are situated in the colorectal cancer disease trajectory is shown in Figure 1-1.

## Figures



Sample Kaplan Meier curves for survival by AJCC stage

## References

1. Canadian Cancer Society's Steering Committee. Canadian Cancer Society Statistics 2010. Toronto: Canadian Cancer Society, 2010.

2. Horner MJ, Ries LAG, Krapcho M, et al., eds. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2006. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute,

3. O'Connell JB, Maggard MA, Ko CY. Colon cancer survival rates with the new American Joint Committee on Cancer sixth edition staging. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004;96:1420-5.

4. Jones CA. Prognostication: medicine's lost art. Med Health R I 2008;91:347-8.

5. Glare P, Sinclair C, Downing M, Stone P, Maltoni M, Vigano A. Predicting survival in patients with advanced disease. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:1146-56.

6. Teno JM, Weitzen S, Fennell ML, Mor V. Dying trajectory in the last year of life: does cancer trajectory fit other diseases? J Palliat Med 2001;4:457-64.

7. Chen JH, Chan DC, Kiely DK, Morris JN, Mitchell SL. Terminal trajectories of functional decline in the long-term care setting. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2007;62:531-6.

8. Glare P. Clinical predictors of survival in advanced cancer. J Support Oncol 2005;3:331-9.

9. National Cancer Institute. Understanding Prognosis and Cancer Statistics: Questions and Answers. Version current 03/07/2008. Internet: http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/support/prognosis-stats (accessed 04/23 2010).

10. Dewys WD, Begg C, Lavin PT, et al. Prognostic effect of weight loss prior to chemotherapy in cancer patients. Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Med 1980;69:491-7.

11. Hines RB, Shanmugam C, Waterbor JW, et al. Effect of comorbidity and body mass index on the survival of African-American and Caucasian patients with colon cancer. Cancer 2009;115:5798-806.

12. Iversen LH, Norgaard M, Jacobsen J, Laurberg S, Sorensen HT. The impact of comorbidity on survival of Danish colorectal cancer patients from 1995 to 2006--a population-based cohort study. Dis Colon Rectum 2009;52:71-8.

13. Lemmens VE, Janssen-Heijnen ML, Verheij CD, Houterman S, Repelaer van Driel OJ, Coebergh JW. Co-morbidity leads to altered treatment and worse survival of elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Br J Surg 2005;92:615-23.

14. Gross CP, Guo Z, McAvay GJ, Allore HG, Young M, Tinetti ME. Multimorbidity and survival in older persons with colorectal cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006;54:1898-904.

15. Piccirillo JF, Costas I. The impact of comorbidity on outcomes. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2004;66:180-5.

16. Roos LL, Gupta S, Soodeen RA, Jebamani L. Data quality in an informationrich environment: Canada as an example. Can J Aging 2005;24 Suppl 1:153-70.

17. World Health Organization. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th Revision. Version for 2007. Internet: http://apps.who.int/classifications/apps/icd/icd10online/ (accessed 04/23 2010).

18. De Coster C, Quan H, Finlayson A, et al. Identifying priorities in methodological research using ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data: report from an international consortium. BMC Health Serv Res 2006;6:77.

19. World Health Organization. International Classification of Diseases. Internet: http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/ (accessed 5/4 2010).

20. Woo JG, Zeller MH, Wilson K, Inge T. Obesity identified by discharge ICD-9 codes underestimates the true prevalence of obesity in hospitalized children. J Pediatr 2009;154:327-31.

21. Bocock MA, Keller HH. Hospital diagnosis of malnutrition: a call for action. Can J Diet Pract Res 2009;70:37-41.

22. Deyo RA, Cherkin DC, Ciol MA. Adapting a clinical comorbidity index for use with ICD-9-CM administrative databases. J Clin Epidemiol 1992;45:613-9.

23. Dominick KL, Dudley TK, Coffman CJ, Bosworth HB. Comparison of three comorbidity measures for predicting health service use in patients with osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2005;53:666-72.

24. Baldwin LM, Klabunde CN, Green P, Barlow W, Wright G. In search of the perfect comorbidity measure for use with administrative claims data: does it exist? Med Care 2006;44:745-53.

25. Stukenborg GJ, Wagner DP, Connors AF,Jr. Comparison of the performance of two comorbidity measures, with and without information from prior hospitalizations. Med Care 2001;39:727-39.

26. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. Med Care 1998;36:8-27.

27. Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care 2005;43:1130-9.

28. Romano PS, Roos LL, Jollis JG. Adapting a clinical comorbidity index for use with ICD-9-CM administrative data: differing perspectives. J Clin Epidemiol 1993;46:1075,9; discussion 1081-90.

29. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40:373-83.

30. Schneeweiss S, Maclure M. Use of comorbidity scores for control of confounding in studies using administrative databases. Int J Epidemiol 2000;29:891-8.

31. Sundararajan V, Quan H, Halfon P, et al. Cross-national comparative performance of three versions of the ICD-10 Charlson index. Med Care 2007;45:1210-5.

32. Iezzoni LI, ed. Risk Adjustment for Measuring Healthcare Outcomes. Chicago: Health Administration Press, 1997.

33. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied Logistic Regression. 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2000.

34. Southern DA, Quan H, Ghali WA. Comparison of the Elixhauser and Charlson/Deyo methods of comorbidity measurement in administrative data. Med Care 2004;42:355-60.

35. Norman K, Pichard C, Lochs H, Pirlich M. Prognostic impact of diseaserelated malnutrition. Clin Nutr 2008;27:5-15.

36. Stratton RJ, Green CJ, Elia M. Disease-related malnutrition: an evidencebased approach to treatment. Oxon, UK: CABI Publishing, 2003.

37. Jensen GL, Mirtallo J, Compher C, et al. Adult starvation and disease-related malnutrition: a proposal for etiology-based diagnosis in the clinical practice setting from the international consensus guideline committee. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2010;34:156-9.

38. Harris JA, Benedict FG. A Biometric Study of Human Basal Metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1918;4:370-3.

39. Boothby JL, Berkson J, Dunn HL. Studies on the energy of metabolism of normal individuals: A standard for basal metabolism with a normogram for clinical application. Am J Physiol 1936;116:468-83.

40. Pirlich M, Schutz T, Kemps M, et al. Social risk factors for hospital malnutrition. Nutrition 2005;21:295-300.

41. Tjepkema M. Adult obesity in Canada: Measured height and weight. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 2005.

42. Luo W, Morrison H, de Groh M, et al. The burden of adult obesity in Canada. Chronic Dis Can 2007;27:135-44.

43. Anis AH, Zhang W, Bansback N, Guh DP, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL. Obesity and overweight in Canada: an updated cost-of-illness study. Obes Rev 2009;

44. Choban PS, Flancbaum L. Nourishing the obese patient. Clin Nutr 2000;19:305-11.

45. Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. Obes Res 2004;12:1995-2004.

46. Prado CM, Lieffers JR, McCargar LJ, et al. Prevalence and clinical implications of sarcopenic obesity in patients with solid tumours of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2008;9:629-35.

47. Tan BH, Birdsell LA, Martin L, Baracos VE, Fearon KC. Sarcopenia in an overweight or obese patient is an adverse prognostic factor in pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:6973-9.

48. van Bokhorst-de van der Schueren, M.A., Klinkenberg M, Thijs A. Profile of the malnourished patient. Eur J Clin Nutr 2005;59:1129-35.

49. Chima CS, Barco K, Dewitt ML, Maeda M, Teran JC, Mullen KD. Relationship of nutritional status to length of stay, hospital costs, and discharge status of patients hospitalized in the medicine service. J Am Diet Assoc 1997;97:975,8; quiz 979-80.

50. Correia MI, Waitzberg DL. The impact of malnutrition on morbidity, mortality, length of hospital stay and costs evaluated through a multivariate model analysis. Clin Nutr 2003;22:235-9.

51. Amaral TF, Matos LC, Tavares MM, et al. The economic impact of disease-related malnutrition at hospital admission. Clin Nutr 2007;26:778-84.

52. Leuenberger M, Kurmann S, Stanga Z. Nutritional screening tools in daily clinical practice: the focus on cancer. Support Care Cancer 2010;8:S17-27.

53. Kubrak C, Jensen L. Critical evaluation of nutrition screening tools recommended for oncology patients. Cancer Nurs 2007;30:E1-6.

54. Wie GA, Cho YA, Kim SY, Kim SM, Bae JM, Joung H. Prevalence and risk factors of malnutrition among cancer patients according to tumor location and stage in the National Cancer Center in Korea. Nutrition 2010;26:263-8.

55. Chicago Dietetic Association, The South Suburban Dietetic Association, Dietitians of Canada. Manual of Clinical Dietetics. 6th ed. Chicago: American Dietetic Association, 2000.

56. Blackburn GL, Bistrian BR, Maini BS, Schlamm HT, Smith MF. Nutritional and metabolic assessment of the hospitalized patient. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 1977;1:11-222.

57. Davies M. Nutritional screening and assessment in cancer-associated malnutrition. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2005;9 Suppl 2:S64-73.

58. Capra S, Ferguson M, Ried K. Cancer: impact of nutrition intervention outcome--nutrition issues for patients. Nutrition 2001;17:769-72.

59. Inui A. Cancer anorexia-cachexia syndrome: current issues in research and management. CA Cancer J Clin 2002;52:72-91.

60. Knox LS, Crosby LO, Feurer ID, Buzby GP, Miller CL, Mullen JL. Energy expenditure in malnourished cancer patients. Ann Surg 1983;197:152-62.

61. Corli O, Cozzolino A, Battaiotto L, Bernoni M, Gallina A. A new method of food intake quantification: application to the care of cancer patients. J Pain Symptom Manage 1992;7:12-7.

62. Bozzetti F, SCRINIO Working Group. Screening the nutritional status in oncology: a preliminary report on 1,000 outpatients. Support Care Cancer 2009;17:279-84.

63. von Meyenfeldt M. Cancer-associated malnutrition: an introduction. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2005;9 Suppl 2:S35-8.

64. Jebb SA, Osborne RJ, Dixon AK, Bleehen NM, Elia M. Measurements of resting energy expenditure and body composition before and after treatment of small cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 1994;5:915-9.

65. Johnson G, Salle A, Lorimier G, et al. Cancer cachexia: measured and predicted resting energy expenditures for nutritional needs evaluation. Nutrition 2008;24:443-50.

66. Falconer JS, Fearon KC, Plester CE, Ross JA, Carter DC. Cytokines, the acute-phase response, and resting energy expenditure in cachectic patients with pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg 1994;219:325-31.

67. Cao DX, Wu GH, Zhang B, et al. Resting energy expenditure and body composition in patients with newly detected cancer. Clin Nutr 2010;29:72-7.

68. Grosvenor M, Bulcavage L, Chlebowski RT. Symptoms potentially influencing weight loss in a cancer population. Correlations with primary site, nutritional status, and chemotherapy administration. Cancer 1989;63:330-4.

69. Van Cutsem E, Arends J. The causes and consequences of cancer-associated malnutrition. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2005;9 Suppl 2:S51-63.

70. Tisdale MJ. Cachexia in cancer patients. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2:862-71.

71. Baracos VE. Cancer-associated cachexia and underlying biological mechanisms. Annu Rev Nutr 2006;26:435-61.

72. Skipworth RJ, Stewart GD, Dejong CH, Preston T, Fearon KC. Pathophysiology of cancer cachexia: much more than host-tumour interaction? Clin Nutr 2007;26:667-76.

73. Warren S. The immediate cause of death in cancer. Am J Med Sci 1932;184:610-5.

74. Fox KM, Brooks JM, Gandra SR, Markus R, Chiou CF. Estimation of Cachexia among Cancer Patients Based on Four Definitions. J Oncol 2009;2009:693458.

75. Fearon KC, Barber MD, Falconer JS, McMillan DC, Ross JA, Preston T. Pancreatic cancer as a model: inflammatory mediators, acute-phase response, and cancer cachexia. World J Surg 1999;23:584-8.

76. Evans WJ, Morley JE, Argiles J, et al. Cachexia: a new definition. Clin Nutr 2008;27:793-9.

77. Genton L, Pichard C. Do obese patients have specific nutrition goals in cases of cancer? JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2009;33:442-3.

78. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Block G, Horwich T, Fonarow GC. Reverse epidemiology of conventional cardiovascular risk factors in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;43:1439-44.

79. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Abbott KC, Salahudeen AK, Kilpatrick RD, Horwich TB. Survival advantages of obesity in dialysis patients. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;81:543-54.

80. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Horwich TB, Oreopoulos A, et al. Risk factor paradox in wasting diseases. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2007;10:433-42.

81. Wang Z, Wang ZM, Heymsfield SB. History of the study of human body composition: A brief review. Am J Hum Biol 1999;11:157-65.

82. Wang ZM, Pierson RN,Jr, Heymsfield SB. The five-level model: a new approach to organizing body-composition research. Am J Clin Nutr 1992;56:19-28.

83. Office of Nutrition Policy and Promotion. Canadian guidelines for body weight classification in adults. Ottawa: Health Canada, 2003.

84. Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet 2008;371:569-78.

85. Dempster P, Aitkens S. A new air displacement method for the determination of human body composition. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1995;27:1692-7.

86. Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Baumgartner RN, Ross R. Human body composition: advances in models and methods. Annu Rev Nutr 1997;17:527-58.

87. Snyder WS, Cooke MJ, Manssett ES, Larhansen LT, Howells GP, Tipton IH. Report of the Task Group on Reference Man. Pergamon, Oxford, UK: 1975.

88. Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. Am J Epidemiol 1998;147:755-63.

89. Lee SY, Gallagher D. Assessment methods in human body composition. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2008;11:566-72.

90. Elia M. Organ and tissue contribution to metabolic rate. In: Kinney, J and Tucker, H, eds. Energy metabolism: Tissue determinants and cellular corollaries. New York, New York: Raven Press, 1992:

91. Gallagher D, Belmonte D, Deurenberg P, et al. Organ-tissue mass measurement allows modeling of REE and metabolically active tissue mass. Am J Physiol 1998;275:E249-58.

92. Miller AT, Blyth CS. Lean body mass as a metabolic reference standard. J Appl Physiol 1953;5:311-6.

93. Illner K, Brinkmann G, Heller M, Bosy-Westphal A, Muller MJ. Metabolically active components of fat free mass and resting energy expenditure in nonobese adults. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000;278:E308-15.

94. Heymsfield SB, Fulenwider T, Nordlinger B, Barlow R, Sones P, Kutner M. Accurate measurement of liver, kidney, and spleen volume and mass by computerized axial tomography. Ann Intern Med 1979;90:185-7.

95. Duck FA. Physical properties of tissue. A Comprehensive Reference Book. London: Academic Press, 1990.

96. Shen W, Punyanitya M, Wang Z, et al. Total body skeletal muscle and adipose tissue volumes: estimation from a single abdominal cross-sectional image. J Appl Physiol 2004;97:2333-8.

97. Mourtzakis M, Prado CM, Lieffers JR, Reiman T, McCargar LJ, Baracos VE. A practical and precise approach to quantification of body composition in cancer patients using computed tomography images acquired during routine care. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2008;33:997-1006.

98. Mitsiopoulos N, Baumgartner RN, Heymsfield SB, Lyons W, Gallagher D, Ross R. Cadaver validation of skeletal muscle measurement by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomography. J Appl Physiol 1998;85:115-22.

99. Harvie MN, Howell A, Thatcher N, Baildam A, Campbell I. Energy balance in patients with advanced NSCLC, metastatic melanoma and metastatic breast cancer receiving chemotherapy--a longitudinal study. Br J Cancer 2005;92:673-80.

100. Fouladiun M, Korner U, Bosaeus I, Daneryd P, Hyltander A, Lundholm KG. Body composition and time course changes in regional distribution of fat and lean tissue in unselected cancer patients on palliative care--correlations with food intake, metabolism, exercise capacity, and hormones. Cancer 2005;103:2189-98.

101. Moon HG, Ju YT, Jeong CY, et al. Visceral obesity may affect oncologic outcome in patients with colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2008;15:1918-22.

102. Ishii Y, Hasegawa H, Nishibori H, Watanabe M, Kitajima M. Impact of visceral obesity on surgical outcome after laparoscopic surgery for rectal cancer. Br J Surg 2005;92:1261-2.

103. Seki Y, Ohue M, Sekimoto M, et al. Evaluation of the technical difficulty performing laparoscopic resection of a rectosigmoid carcinoma: visceral fat reflects technical difficulty more accurately than body mass index. Surg Endosc 2007;21:929-34.

104. Tsujinaka S, Konishi F, Kawamura YJ, et al. Visceral obesity predicts surgical outcomes after laparoscopic colectomy for sigmoid colon cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2008;51:1757,65; discussion 1765-7.

105. Sakai T, Maekawa T, Mikami K, Kuramochi H, Noda S. Visceral fat volume and surgical outcomes of colorectal resection. Int Surg 2009;94:370-2.

106. Sarhill N, Mahmoud F, Walsh D, et al. Evaluation of nutritional status in advanced metastatic cancer. Support Care Cancer 2003;11:652-9.

107. Hasenberg T, Essenbreis M, Herold A, Post S, Shang E. Early supplementation of parenteral nutrition is capable of improving quality of life, chemotherapy-related toxicity and body composition in patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma undergoing palliative treatment Results from a prospective, randomized clinical trial. Colorectal Dis 2009;

108. Read JA, Beale PJ, Volker DH, Smith N, Childs A, Clarke SJ. Nutrition intervention using an eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA)-containing supplement in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. Effects on nutritional and inflammatory status: a phase II trial. Support Care Cancer 2007;15:301-7.

109. Fearon KC, Barber MD, Moses AG, et al. Double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study of eicosapentaenoic acid diester in patients with cancer cachexia. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:3401-7.

110. Heymsfield SB, McManus CB. Tissue components of weight loss in cancer patients. A new method of study and preliminary observations. Cancer 1985;55:238-49.

111. Heymsfield SB, Olafson RP, Kutner MH, Nixon DW. A radiographic method of quantifying protein-calorie undernutrition. Am J Clin Nutr 1979;32:693-702.

112. Taylor I. Adjuvant chemotherapy after resection of liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:1198-201.

113. Purkiss SF, Williams NS. Growth rate and percentage hepatic replacement of colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg 1993;80:1036-8.

114. Elia M. Tissue Distribution and Energetics in Weight Loss and Undernutrition. In: Kinney, J and Tucker, H, eds. Physiology, Stress, and Malnutrition: Functional Correlates, Nutritional Intervention. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997:

115. Chaturvedi P, Kabra V. The role of nutrition in oncology: a need for a change of attitude and curriculum. J Cancer Educ 2006;21:89,91; discussion 92-4.

116. Lennard-Jones JE, Arrowsmith H, Davison C, Denham AF, Micklewright A. Screening by nurses and junior doctors to detect malnutrition when patients are first assessed in hospital. Clin Nutr 1995;14:336-40.

117. McWhirter JP, Pennington CR. Incidence and recognition of malnutrition in hospital. BMJ 1994;308:945-8.

118. Rasmussen HH, Kondrup J, Ladefoged K, Staun M. Clinical nutrition in danish hospitals: a questionnaire-based investigation among doctors and nurses. Clin Nutr 1999;18:153-8.

119. Spiro A, Baldwin C, Patterson A, Thomas J, Andreyev HJ. The views and practice of oncologists towards nutritional support in patients receiving chemotherapy. Br J Cancer 2006;95:431-4.

120. Orrevall Y, Tishelman C, Herrington MK, Permert J. The path from oral nutrition to home parenteral nutrition: a qualitative interview study of the experiences of advanced cancer patients and their families. Clin Nutr 2004;23:1280-7.

CHAPTER 2: A comparison of Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidity measures to predict colorectal cancer survival using administrative health data

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Cancer survival is related to primary malignancy characteristics such as site and stage, and patient variables such as sex, age, and performance status. The concurrent presence of non-malignant diseases (comorbidities) is common and has been shown to be an important contributing factor to cancer survival (1-4). Cancer patients who are  $\geq$  70 years typically have 3 comorbidities (5), of which cardiovascular disease and hypertension are among the most common (6). Importantly, weight-related conditions such as underweight, obesity and involuntary weight loss also predict cancer survival (7, 8). Exclusion of any of these relevant explanatory variables would result in biased estimates of survival. We suggest that disease features, demographics, and comorbidities including weight-related conditions should all be considered in cancer risk adjustment models.

Inpatient administrative health data is an information source often used to identify comorbidities recorded with International Classification of Disease (ICD) diagnostic codes. The Charlson index (9) is the most common measure to assess comorbidity in cancer patients with ~1000 citations since 2005. It was originally based on the risk of 1 year death for 19 conditions in 559 hospitalized internal medicine patients. The Elixhauser method is a more recent approach which

encompasses 31 conditions; this technique was developed and validated by predicting in-hospital mortality, length of stay, and hospital charges using an administrative database encompassing all adult acute care inpatient hospitalizations that occurred in 1992 in California (n=1,779,167) (10). Elixhauser is suggested to be a superior risk adjustment model in hospitalized patients with cardiac and respiratory conditions (11, 12), and osteoarthritis (13). About 70 citations using Elixhauser in cancer studies have appeared since 2005, showing its emerging popularity. Only one study to date has compared Elixhauser with Charlson in cancer patients (14).

Weight loss and obesity are included in the Elixhauser, but not the Charlson measure. Involuntary weight loss is an independent prognostic factor for poor treatment response and reduced survival in cancer patients (7). Obesity (defined as a body mass index (BMI)  $\geq 30$ kg/m<sup>2</sup>) is normally regarded as a risk factor for decreased survival in the general population when all-cause mortality is considered (15); however, recent reports suggest that in wasting diseases (including cancer and renal disease) patients with obesity have longer, not reduced survival, compared to patients with a lower BMI (8, 16, 17). It is also presently uncertain how body weight features should be included for risk adjustment in cancer survival models and whether the manner in which they are captured in administrative data and included in the Elixhauser method corresponds to what is currently known about their impact on survival in cancer patients based on clinical data. We studied a population-based cohort of stage II-IV colorectal cancer patients to further develop our understanding of optimal risk adjustment procedures in cancer survival research. Building upon a base model which included age, sex, and stage, we sought to improve the model by adding either Charlson or Elixhauser comorbidities to determine the better risk adjustment tool. We also evaluated whether adding performance status and replacing Elixhauser weight-related conditions with more cancer-appropriate weight variables derived using clinical data improved the model's predictive power.

#### 2.2 Methods

Ethical approval was obtained from the Alberta Cancer Board Research Ethics Board.

#### 2.2.1 Patient population, demographics and cancer-related variables

All Alberta residents with stage II-IV colorectal cancer (ICD-O: C18-C20 excluding appendix cancer) (18) who visited a new patient medical oncology clinic at the Cross Cancer Institute (Edmonton, Canada) between June 8, 2004 and March 31, 2006 were included. This single tertiary cancer facility in northern Alberta (population 1.8 million) handles almost all (> 95%) referrals for consideration of chemotherapy or radiation therapy. Age, sex, stage, tumor site, and date of death were obtained from the Alberta Cancer Registry. The first clinic visit date was our index date and the point in time at which stage was established and from which survival time was quantified. All patients were followed for > 3yrs. Cancer stage was defined using the American Joint

Committee on Cancer (6<sup>th</sup> Edition) stage groupings I, II, III, and IV (19). The end date of our study was June 9, 2009.

Height, weight and weight history were patient-reported variables obtained from the Patient Generated Subjective Global Assessment (PG-SGA) (20). The PG-SGA is a clinical tool used for nutritional screening of cancer patients and is completed at this clinic visit. Self-reported height, weight and weight history have been found to be reliable measures in healthy adults (21, 22) and cancer patients (23). The PG-SGA includes a performance status score (patient-reported version of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status): 0 = normal with no limitations; 1 = not my normal self, but able to be up and about with fairly normal activities; 2 = not feeling up to most things, but in bed or chair less than half the day; 3 = able to do little activity and spend most of the day in bed or chair; 4 = pretty much bedridden, rarely out of bed.

#### 2.2.2 Comorbidities

Comorbidities were obtained from inpatient hospitalization administrative data provided by Alberta Health and Wellness, the agency responsible for administering the provincial health care plan. This dataset includes all inpatient hospitalizations that occurred in any Alberta hospital and includes up to 16 ICD-10 diagnostic codes for each hospitalization. Hospitalizations that occurred in the year prior to the index date were included in the calculation of comorbidities.

#### 2.2.2.1 Charlson and Elixhauser methods

Comorbidity burden was quantified using the Charlson and Elixhauser methods which have validated coding algorithms available for ICD-10 codes (24). All diagnostic codes from each hospitalization were searched to identify codes specified in the Charlson and Elixhauser algorithms. Binary variables were created indicating presence or absence of each Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidity. Patients who were not hospitalized in the year prior to the index date were considered to have no comorbidities. Comorbidity categories involving cancer were excluded and those with  $\leq$  3 occurrences were omitted for statistical reasons.

#### 2.2.2.2 Augmented Elixhauser method

Both ECOG performance status and clinical body weight data were used to *augment* the Elixhauser method. All comorbidities not related to body weight were derived using administrative data. Two weight-related variables were created using PG-SGA data for the *augmented* Elixhauser method: abnormal weight loss, and abnormal BMI. These variables are important because colorectal cancer patients are normally a weight-losing population (mean 6 month weight loss for our population  $6.7 \pm 7.8\%$ ) and risk of death in cancer patients increases at lower BMI values (1, 25, 26). Abnormal weight loss was defined as loss of  $\geq$ 20% within the past six months (i.e., Grade 3 weight loss from the National Cancer Institute Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (v3.0)). Abnormal BMI was defined as  $< 20 \text{kg/m}^2$ , a value consistent with a diagnosis of cachexia (27).

#### 2.2.3 Statistical Analysis

Analysis was conducted in three stages. In each stage, regression models were fitted and comorbidities were determined and grouped using each of the following methods: 1) Charlson; 2) Elixhauser; or 3) *augmented* Elixhauser. Two- and 3yr survival (robust Poisson regression), and overall survival (Cox regression) were the outcome variables. Because > 10% of the population had the outcome, robust Poisson regression was used instead of logistic regression to avoid overestimation of risk ratios (28, 29).

First, unadjusted hazard ratios (HR) and incidence rate ratios (IRR) were calculated for each Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidity variable using Cox and robust Poisson regression models; corresponding 95% confidence intervals for each estimate were also determined.

Second, adjusted Cox and robust Poisson regression models were fitted. Models included variables with well-accepted associations with survival (i.e., age, sex, and stage), as well as all the comorbidity variables using Charlson, Elixhauser, and *augmented* Elixhauser approaches. For each individual comorbidity, we calculated adjusted HR, IRR, and corresponding 95% confidence intervals. Age was treated as a continuous variable (30) and performance status was dichotomized by combining scores 0–1 and 2–4 to represent good and poor performance status, respectively (7, 23).

Finally, robust Poisson regression models were compared to determine which of Charlson, Elixhauser, or *augmented* Elixhauser best predicts 2- and 3yr survival. Each regression model encompassed one of the three comorbidity

methods as well as age, sex, and stage. We also evaluated a base model which included only age, sex, and stage.

To determine which comorbidity method was the best predictor of survival, change in the concordance (c) statistic was tested using the roccomp command in Stata (31). This command tests for differences between two correlated receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves (32), a graph of the true positive rate vs. the false positive rate. The c statistic is equivalent to the area under the ROC curve (33); in this case, the probability that someone who died has a higher predicted probability of dying than someone who did not die in the specified timeframe. A c statistic of 0.5 indicates the model predicts the outcome as well as chance (i.e., equal numbers of true and false positives), 0.7 to <0.8 is acceptable discrimination, 0.8 to <0.9 indicates excellent discrimination, 0.9 to <1.0 is outstanding discrimination and, 1.0 is perfect prediction (34). Other comorbidity measure validation studies with binary outcomes have used this method (11, 12, 14). To ensure that our model was not overfitting, we internally validated our robust Poisson regression models using ten-fold cross validation (35). We then took all of the predicted probabilities generated from the 10 models and generated a single ROC curve. This process was carried out separately for 2- and 3-year survival for each model.

SPSS v17.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL) and Stata v10.0 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX) were used for statistical analysis. All tests were two sided and  $\alpha$  was set at 0.05.

#### 2.3 Results

#### **2.3.1 Demographic and cancer-related variables**

There were 574 patients included, 486 (85%) of whom were hospitalized in the year prior to the index date in a total of 764 hospitalizations. Population characteristics are listed in **Table 2-1**. No differences in age, sex, and performance status were observed between hospitalized and non hospitalized patients.

#### **2.3.2** Comorbidities

#### 2.3.2.1 Charlson and Elixhauser Comorbidities

Overall, 25.6% had  $\geq$  1 Charlson comorbidities and 7.5% of those patients had  $\geq$  3 comorbidities. **Table 2-2** presents the frequency of each Charlson comorbidity and their unadjusted and adjusted HR and IRR. The following Charlson comorbidities were dropped from statistical analyses due to low counts (i.e.,  $\leq$  3 patients affected): peripheral vascular disease, rheumatic disease, hemiplegia or paraplegia, moderate or severe liver disease, and HIV/AIDS. Diabetes without complications, chronic pulmonary disease and myocardial infarction were the most common conditions. In the unadjusted Cox regression models, congestive heart failure, dementia, and renal disease were significant predictors of survival but only renal disease was significant in the adjusted model.

Overall, 46.5% had  $\geq$  1 Elixhauser comorbidities and 26.9% of those patients had  $\geq$  3 comorbidities. **Table 2-3** presents the frequency of each Elixhauser comorbidity and their unadjusted and adjusted HR and IRR. The following Elixhauser comorbidities were dropped from statistical analyses due to

low counts (i.e.,  $\leq$  3 patients affected): peripheral vascular disorders, paralysis, peptic ulcer disease, rheumatoid arthritis, coagulopathy, drug abuse, alcohol abuse, psychosis and HIV/AIDS. The most frequent Elixhauser conditions were uncomplicated hypertension, uncomplicated diabetes, and cardiac arrhythmias. In unadjusted Cox regression models, congestive heart failure, cardiac arrhythmias, renal failure and fluid and electrolyte disorders were significant predictors of survival. Cardiac arrhythmias, uncomplicated hypertension and fluid and electrolyte disorders were significant predictors in the adjusted Cox regression model. Unlike other comorbidities, uncomplicated hypertension was positively associated with survival.

Pair wise correlations between the comorbidities did not reveal any collinearity issues amongst different conditions within the Charlson and Elixhauser measures.

#### 2.3.2.2 Augmented Elixhauser comorbidities

Only 1.0% of hospitalized patients had an ICD 10 diagnosis of weight loss recorded, however 4.5% of our cohort reported a weight loss of  $\geq$  20%. Weight loss derived using only administrative health data was not a significant predictor of survival. However, weight loss derived using the 20% cutpoint from the selfreported data was significant in both the adjusted and unadjusted Cox regression models. Approximately, 6.6% of patients had a BMI < 20kg/m<sup>2</sup> (27). Low BMI was significant predictor of survival in the unadjusted Cox regression model and tending towards significance in the adjusted model. Performance status was a

significant predictor of survival in the unadjusted and adjusted Cox regression models.

#### 2.3.3 Robust Poisson regression model discrimination

The c statistics for Elixhauser and Charlson comorbidity measures adjusted for age, sex, and stage for 2- and 3-yr survival are reported in Table 2-4. A base model (age, sex, and stage) with no comorbidities already demonstrated excellent discrimination (i.e., c statistics > 0.8) for 2- and 3yr survival. Adding Charlson comorbidities as individual binary variables generated a model that was not different from the base model (2yr: p=0.14, 3yr: p=0.17). The addition of Elixhauser comorbidities to the base model, however, increased the c statistic by 0.027-0.028 compared to the base model (2yr: p=0.0051, 3yr: p=0.0017). The c statistic for the Elixhauser comorbidities was 0.021 higher compared to the Charlson comorbidities and significantly different (2yr: p=0.018, 3yr p=0.016). The addition of the *augmented* Elixhauser variables to the base model also had higher discrimination compared to the base model alone (2yr p=0.0003, 3yr p=0.0001). The *augmented* Elixhauser method achieved a higher c statistic than the standard Elixhauser method for 2yr (p=0.026), but not 3yr (p=0.13) survival. The c statistics for models with either the Charlson (9) or Elixhauser (36) weighted scores added to the base model were not significantly different from those of the base model alone. The ten-fold cross-validated c statistics ranged from 0.804 to 0.839 for all models, including the base model, Charlson, and Elixhauser (normal and *augmented*) for both 2- and 3yr survival.

As stage is a variable with substantial discrimination power in this population (c statistics: 2yr: 0.777, 3yr: 0.790), we tested the differences in comorbidity measure performance adjusted for age and sex separately by stage (**Table 2-5**). The highest c statistic in the base models was observed in stage III patients. For all stages and survival times, the Elixhauser and *augmented* Elixhauser methods had significantly higher discrimination compared to the base model (i.e., age, sex). The greatest increase in c-statistic contributed by the addition of the Elixhauser comorbidities was for 2yr survival in stage II patients (increased from 0.683 to 0.838). Overall, the *augmented* Elixhauser had higher c statistics compared to the standard Elixhauser method; however, this did not reach statistical significance except for stage IV, 3yr survival. This analysis clarifies that c statistics vary by stage, but that the overall conclusions stated above were also true within stage, including a lack of discrimination by Charlson model and statistically increased discrimination by Elixhauser method.

#### **2.4 Discussion**

As cancer is largely a disease of the elderly who frequently possess multiple comorbidities, it is essential that the best measure is used to control for additional conditions which may impact survival. Emerging recent evidence, largely from non-cancer populations suggests that the Elixhauser method is a superior comorbidity risk adjustment model compared to the Charlson method (11, 12). Despite these findings, the Elixhauser method has not been popular in cancer studies perhaps due to few reported comparisons with the Charlson

measure and concerns regarding the inclusion of too many explanatory variables (i.e., 30+), thus requiring a fairly large sample size.

We found that the Elixhauser measure is a superior comorbidity risk adjustment method with a significantly higher c statistic for both 2- and 3-year survival than the Charlson measure (Table 2-4). Some reasons for this may be due to the lack of comprehensiveness of the Charlson comorbidities and because it was designed to predict one year survival. Survival studies with colorectal cancer patients are generally focused on 2 to 5 year survival. Baldwin *et al.* is the only published comparison of the Charlson and Elixhauser methods in cancer patients (14). A strength of that study is that it included both outpatient and inpatient administrative records data; however, we believe our analysis better addresses the question of whether Charlson or Elixhauser is a better comorbidity risk adjustment model in cancer patients. Our population encompassed patients of all ages (i.e., not just those  $\geq$  66 years) with different stages of disease (i.e., stage II–IV, not just stage III), used different survival times to determine when comorbidities exert their influence, used all cause mortality, and most importantly, compared unbiased estimates (c statistic) to identify the best prediction model. Although Baldwin et al. examined whether the different comorbidity measures significantly add to a base model containing standard risk adjustment variables including age, sex and race, they did not conduct statistical comparisons from which concrete conclusions could be drawn about which method is best.

Overall, the c statistics for all cause mortality for the different comorbidity measures are similar to or slightly higher than values reported in other patient populations (11, 12, 24, 37); it will be of interest to determine how the two approaches compare for other cancers than the types studied here. It is important to do this analysis by cancer stage, since stage by itself already exerts substantial survival discrimination. This analysis clearly revealed that the addition of comorbidities has a larger improvement on survival prediction for stage II patients and the magnitude of this effect decreased for stages III and IV. This would be expected as stage II patients have substantially higher 5-year cancer-specific survival rates compared to stage III and IV patients and, therefore, are more likely to die from a condition other than their cancer than a person with more advanced disease. The increased importance of comorbidity in less aggressive compared to more aggressive cancers has been previously suggested (38). Regardless of stage, however, the Elixhauser method was better than the Charlson method.

In spite of the likely under-reporting of weight loss and obesity in administrative data noted in this study and others (10, 24, 37, 39,40), the replacement of administrative data with clinical weight data for obesity and weight loss Elixhauser comorbidities did not improve the predictive performance of the method. Two conditions significantly related with survival (congestive heart failure and renal failure) are well-known causes of cachexia and wasting (27) and it may be that the addition of weight loss data adds little to an analysis where these conditions are already accounted for. Under-reporting of weightrelated data in administrative data sources may be due to poor recording of these

features in medical records, the ICD codes available to identify weight related conditions (i.e., abnormal weight loss (ICD 10: R83.4)) have no specific defining cutpoints, and/or the lack of incentive to record this information.

Testing comorbidity measure performance in different cancer cohorts is worthy of future work. This will ensure that the best risk adjustment model is used to test the relationships between emerging variables and cancer survival. The lack of significance in most of the comorbidities in the adjusted models shown in Table 2-3 suggests a good predictive model for survival may only need to include a few comorbidities. Now that we have established the value of the Elixhauser method, it can now be used to risk-adjust in future cancer studies evaluating the effects of various treatment modalities on survival.

#### 2.5 Conclusion

Our study is the first to directly compare the Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidity measures using the appropriate unbiased estimate in patients with colorectal cancer. Choosing optimal risk adjustment methods is essential to ensuring the report of unbiased relationships between an independent variable and outcome of interest. Standardized and comprehensive risk adjustment protocols to control for differences in baseline status will have important future applications in many domains of oncology and will allow for better comparison between studies.

# Tables

<b>Table 2-1:</b>	Population	characteristics	(n=574)

Age (years)	
	$64 \pm 12$
	Range: 32–90
Sex (%)	
Male	58.4
Female	41.6
Primary Tumor Site (%)	
Colon	62.2
Rectum	25.6
<b>Rectosigmoid Junction</b>	12.2
Cancer Stage (%)	
II	27.7
III	33.3
IV	39.0
BMI Category (%)	
BMI < 20	6.6
BMI 20-24.9	36.1
BMI 25.0-29.9	37.6
$BMI \ge 30$	19.7
Performance Status	
Score (%)	
0	24.4
1	52.3
2	13.2
3	8.5
4	1.6

	n (%)	Cox Re	gression	Robust Poisson Regression			
	with CM	_		Died ≤ 2yrs		Died ≤ 3yrs	
				(184 died, 390 survived)		(230 died, 344 survived)	
		Unadjusted HR	Adjusted HR <sup>+</sup>	Unadjusted IRR	Adjusted IRR <sup>†</sup>	Unadjusted IRR	Adjusted IRR <sup>†</sup>
		[95%CI]	[95% CI]	[95%CI]	[95% CI]	[95%CI]	[95% CI]
Myocardial infarction	31 (5.4)	1.1	0.98	1.1	0.96	1.1	1.1
		[0.69, 1.9]	[0.54, 1.8]	[0.68, 1.8]	[0.61, 1.5]	[0.76, 1.7]	[0.75, 1.5]
Congestive heart	19 (3.3)	2.2	1.9	2.0	1.6	1.6	1.2
failure		[1.3, 3.8]	[0.99, 3.8]	[1.4, 2.9]	[0.87, 3.0]	[1.1, 2.3]	[0.70, 2.1]
Cerebrovascular	7 (1.2)	0.27	0.21	0.44	0.85	0.35	0.67
disease		[0.038, 1.9]	[0.024, 1.8]	[0.072, 2.7]	[0.11, 6.4]	[0.057, 2.2]	[0.095, 4.7]
Dementia	6 (1.1)	3.1	1.7	2.6	2.0	2.5	2.3
		[1.4, 7.0]	[0.61, 4.7]	[1.8, 3.9]	[0.83, 4.9]	[2.3, 2.8]	[1.1, 5.1]
Chronic pulmonary	37 (6.4)	1.4	0.94	1.3	0.84	1.4	0.98
disease		[0.89, 2.2]	[0.58, 1.5]	[0.86, 1.9]	[0.55, 1.3]	[1.0, 1.9]	[0.69, 1.4]
Peptic ulcer disease	5 (0.9)	1.3	1.5	0.62	0.63	1.0	0.96
		[0.42, 4.1]	[0.48, 4.7]	[0.11, 3.6]	[0.14, 2.8]	[0.34, 2.9]	[0.56, 1.6]
Mild liver disease	6 (1.0)	0.30	0.51	0.52	0.78	0.41	0.62
		[0.042, 2.1]	[0.071, 3.7]	[0.086, 3.1]	[0.32, 1.9]	[0.069, 2.5]	[0.24, 1.6]
Diabetes without	65 (11.3)	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.1	1.0
complications		[0.73, 1.6]	[0.72, 1.5]	[0.74, 1.5]	[0.75, 1.4]	[0.80, 1.5]	[0.80, 1.3]
Diabetes with	7 (1.2)	1.9	0.83	1.8	0.62	1.4	0.70
complications		[0.69, 5.0]	[0.19, 3.6]	[0.94, 3.5]	[0.34, 1.1]	[0.75, 2.7]	[0.42, 1.2]
Renal disease	11 (1.9)	2.5	3.3	2.0	1.9	1.6	1.5
		[1.2, 5.0]	[1.2, 9.1]	[1.3, 3.2]	[1.2, 3.0]	[1.0, 2.5]	[0.99, 2.2]

Table 2-2: Prevalence of Charlson comorbidities and relationship with all cause mortality in stage 2-4 colorectal cancer patients (n=574)

**Bold** values were significant (p<0.05), values in *italics* represent marginal p values (0.05 ).†HR (hazard ratio) and IRR (incidence rate ratios) adjusted for age (continuous variable), sex, stage, and all comorbidities listed in table.

	n (%)	Cox Reg	gression	Robust Poisson Regression			
	with CM			Died ≤ 2yrs		Died ≤ 3yrs	
				(184 died, 390 survived)		(230 died, 344 survived)	
		Unadjusted HR	Adjusted HR <sup>†</sup>	Unadjusted IRR	Adjusted IRR <sup>†</sup>	Unadjusted IRR	Adjusted IRR <sup>†</sup>
		[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]
Elixhauser							
Congestive Heart	19 (3.3)	2.2	1.7	2.0	2.1	1.6	1.6
Failure		[1.3, 3.8]	[0.87, 3.4]	[1.4, 2.9]	[1.1, 3.8]	[1.1, 2.3]	[0.88, 2.8]
Cardiac arrhythmias	52 (9.1)	1.6	1.6	1.5	1.4	1.2	1.1
		[1.1, 2.3]	[1.0, 2.5]	[1.1, 2.1]	[0.98, 1.9]	[0.91, 1.7]	[0.79, 1.4]
Valvular disease	10 (1.7)	1.8	0.58	1.6	0.65	1.3	0.63
		[0.83, 3.7]	[0.21, 1.6]	[0.84, 3.0]	[0.32, 1.3]	[0.67, 2.3]	[0.34, 1.2]
Pulmonary circulation	11 (1.9)	1.7	1.4	1.4	0.92	1.6	0.99
disorders		[0.80, 3.6]	[0.61, 3.2]	[0.74, 2.8]	[0.49, 1.7]	[1.0, 2.5]	[0.63, 1.6]
Hypertension without	140	0.92	0.60	0.89	0.62	0.88	0.68
complications	(24.4)	[0.69, 1.2]	[0.43, 0.84]	[0.66, 1.2]	[0.46, 0.85]	[0.69, 1.1]	[0.53, 0.88]
Hypertension with	12 (2.1)	2.0	0.60	1.9	1.1	1.5	0.98
complications		[0.98, 4.0]	[0.12, 2.9]	[1.1, 3.0]	[0.55, 2.1]	[0.90, 2.4]	[0.58, 1.7]
Other neurological	11 (1.9)	1.3	1.1	1.4	1.3	1.4	1.2
disorders		[0.57, 2.9]	[0.47, 2.7]	[0.74, 2.8]	[0.65, 2.6]	[0.79, 2.4]	[0.79, 2.0]
Chronic pulmonary	37 (6.4)	1.4	1.0	1.3	0.93	1.4	1.1
disease		[0.89, 2.2]	[0.61, 1.7]	[0.86, 1.9]	[0.61, 1.4]	[1.0, 1.9]	[0.79, 1.5]
Diabetes without	65 (11.3)	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.1	1.2
complications		[0.74, 1.6]	[0.71, 1.6]	[0.74, 1.5]	[0.78, 1.6]	[0.80, 1.5]	[0.86, 1.5]
Diabetes with	7 (1.2)	1.9	0.45	1.8	0.52	1.4	0.60
complications		[0.69, 5.0]	[0.095, 2.2]	[0.94, 3.5]	[0.28, 0.96]	[0.75, 2.7]	[0.36, 1.0]
Hypothyroidism	35 (6.1)	1.1	1.0	0.98	0.70	1.1	0.90
		[0.64, 1.8]	[0.59, 1.8]	[0.59, 1.6]	[0.47, 1.0]	[0.72, 1.6]	[0.63, 1.3]
Renal failure	11 (1.9)	2.5	4.9	2.0	2.0	1.6	1.6
		[1.2, 5.0]	[0.87, 27.7]	[1.3, 3.2]	[1.1, 3.6]	[1.0, 2.5]	[1.0, 2.6]

 Table 2-3: Prevalence of Elixhauser comorbidities and relationship with all cause mortality in stage 2-4 colorectal cancer patients (n=574)

	n (%)	Cox Re	gression	Robust Poisson Regression			
	with CM		_	Died ≤ 2yrs		Died ≤ 3yrs	
				(184 died, 390 survived)		(230 died, 344 survived)	
		Unadjusted HR	Adjusted HR <sup>†</sup>	Unadjusted IRR	Adjusted IRR <sup>†</sup>	Unadjusted IRR	Adjusted IRR <sup>†</sup>
		[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]	[95% CI]
Liver disease	8 (1.4)	0.78	1.3	1.2	1.7	0.94	1.3
		[0.25. 2.4]	[0.39, 4.3]	[0.48, 2.9]	[0.74, 3.9]	[0.38, 2.3]	[0.59, 3.0]
Obesity	16 (2.8)	0.71	1.4	0.78	1.3	0.62	0.96
		[0.32, 1.6]	[0.57, 3.4]	[0.33, 1.8]	[0.62, 2.9]	[0.26, 1.5]	[0.47, 2.0]
Weight loss	6 (1.0)	0.62	0.46	0.52	0.75	0.41	0.45
		[0.15, 2.5]	[0.11, 2.0]	[0.086, 3.1]	[0.099, 5.7]	[0.069, 2.5]	[0.060, 3.4]
Fluid & electrolyte	29 (5.1)	2.2	2.0	1.7	1.2	1.7	1.4
disorders		[1.4, 3.4]	[1.2, 3.3]	[1.1, 2.4]	[0.78, 2.0]	[1.3, 2.2]	[1.0, 1.9]
Blood loss anemia	6 (1.0)	0.66	0.26	0.52	0.26	0.83	0.49
		[0.16, 2.6]	[0.061, 1.1]	[0.086, 3.1]	[0.078, 0.88]	[0.27, 2.6]	[0.19, 1.2]
Deficiency anemia	27 (4.7)	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.3
		[0.82, 2.3]	[0.75, 2.2]	[0.70, 1.9]	[0.67, 2.0]	[0.81, 1.8]	[0.94, 1.8]
Depression	17 (3.0)	1.5	1.8	1.5	2.2	1.5	2.1
		[0.79, 2.8]	[0.88, 3.6]	[0.89, 2.5]	[1.2, 4.2]	[0.99, 2.2]	[1.3, 3.4]
Augmented Elixhauser	*						
ECOG performance	134	2.1	2.5	1.9	1.6	1.7	1.5
status scores 2-4	(23.3)	[1.6, 2.7]	[1.9, 3.3]	[1.5, 2.4]	[1.3, 1.9]	[1.4, 2.1]	[1.2, 1.7]
BMI < 20	38 (6.6)	1.7	1.6	1.8	1.3	1.4	1.0
		[1.1, 2.7]	[0.94, 2.6]	[1.3, 2.5]	[0.91, 1.8]	[1.0, 1.9]	[0.75, 1.4]
6 month weight loss	26 (4.5)	1.9	1.7	1.7	1.3	1.5	1.2
$\geq$ 20%		[1.2, 3.1]	[1.0, 3.0]	[1.2, 2.5]	[0.92, 1.9]	[1.0, 2.1]	[0.88, 1.6]

**Bold** values were significant (p<0.05), values in *italics* represent marginal p values (0.05 ).†HR (hazard ratio) and IRR (incidence rate ratios) adjusted for age (continuous variable), sex, stage, and all comorbidities listed in table.

\*Augmented Elixhauser includes performance status and substitutes clinical body weight data for administrative records weight data, with low body weight defined as BMI < 20kg/m<sup>2</sup> and abnormal weight loss defined as > 20% loss in 6 months.

	C statistics for survi	C statistics for 2- and 3-year survival			
	2yr (184d, 390a)†	3yr (230d, 344a)†			
Base Model (age, sex, stage)	0.824 <sup>a</sup>	0.827 <sup>a</sup>			
Charlson‡	0.831 <sup>a</sup>	0.833 <sup>a</sup>			
Elixhauser‡	0.852 <sup>b</sup>	0.854 <sup>b</sup>			
Augmented Elixhauser <sup>‡*</sup>	0.864 <sup>c</sup>	0.862 <sup>b</sup>			

Table 2-4: Elixhauser and Charlson comorbidity method discrimination for2- and 3-year all cause mortality in stage 2-4 colorectal cancer patients

C statistics in the same column with different superscript letters are different, p < 0.05 (Stata roccomp test).

†d=deceased, a=alive

‡Adjusted for age (continuous variable), sex, and stage

\**Augmented* Elixhauser includes performance status and substitutes clinical body weight data for administrative records weight data, with low body weight defined as  $BMI < 20 kg/m^2$  and abnormal weight loss defined as > 20% loss in 6 months.

	C statistics for 2 and 3 year survival						
	Stage 2	(n=159)	Stage 3 (n=191)		Stage 4 (n=224)		
	2yr 3yr		2yr	3yr	2yr	3yr	
	(17d, 142a)†	(23d, 136a)†	(28d, 163a)†	(41d, 150a)†	(139d, 85a)†	(166d, 58a)†	
Base Model	0.683 <sup>a</sup>	0.664 <sup>a</sup>	0.783 <sup>a</sup>	0.692 <sup>a</sup>	0.571 <sup>a</sup>	0.585 <sup>a</sup>	
(age, sex)							
Charlson‡	0.709 <sup>a</sup>	$0.686^{a}$	$0.817^{a}$	0.726 <sup>a</sup>	0.581 <sup>a</sup>	0.610 <sup>b</sup>	
Elixhauser‡	0.838 <sup>b</sup>	0.799 <sup>b</sup>	0.872 <sup>b</sup>	0.789 <sup>b</sup>	0.679 <sup>b</sup>	0.724 <sup>c</sup>	
Augmented	0.859 <sup>b</sup>	$0.807^{b}$	0.891 <sup>b</sup>	0.793 <sup>b</sup>	0.717 <sup>b</sup>	0.787 <sup>d</sup>	
Elixhauser*‡							

Table 2-5: Elixhauser and Charlson comorbidity method discrimination for2- and 3-year all cause mortality by stage in colorectal cancer patients

C statistics in the same column with different superscript letters are different, p<0.05 (Stata roccomp test).

†d=deceased, a=alive

‡adjusted for age (continuous variable), sex, and functional status (dichotomous variable) \*Augmented Elixhauser includes performance status and substitutes clinical body weight data for administrative records weight data, with low body weight defined as BMI <  $20 \text{ kg/m}^2$  and abnormal weight loss defined as > 20% loss in 6 months.

# Endnote

A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication in *Cancer*.

## References

1. Hines RB, Shanmugam C, Waterbor JW, et al. Effect of comorbidity and body mass index on the survival of African-American and Caucasian patients with colon cancer. Cancer 2009;115:5798-806.

2. Iversen LH, Norgaard M, Jacobsen J, Laurberg S, Sorensen HT. The impact of comorbidity on survival of Danish colorectal cancer patients from 1995 to 2006-- a population-based cohort study. Dis Colon Rectum 2009;52:71-8.

3. Lemmens VE, Janssen-Heijnen ML, Verheij CD, Houterman S, Repelaer van Driel OJ, Coebergh JW. Co-morbidity leads to altered treatment and worse survival of elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Br J Surg 2005;92:615-23.

4. Gross CP, Guo Z, McAvay GJ, Allore HG, Young M, Tinetti ME. Multimorbidity and survival in older persons with colorectal cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006;54:1898-904.

5. Extermann M, Overcash J, Lyman GH, Parr J, Balducci L. Comorbidity and functional status are independent in older cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1998;16:1582-7.

6. De Marco MF, Janssen-Heijnen ML, van der Heijden LH, Coebergh JW. Comorbidity and colorectal cancer according to subsite and stage: a populationbased study. Eur J Cancer 2000;36:95-9.

7. Dewys WD, Begg C, Lavin PT, et al. Prognostic effect of weight loss prior to chemotherapy in cancer patients. Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Med 1980;69:491-7.

8. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Horwich TB, Oreopoulos A, et al. Risk factor paradox in wasting diseases. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2007;10:433-42.

9. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40:373-83.

10. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. Med Care 1998;36:8-27.

11. Southern DA, Quan H, Ghali WA. Comparison of the Elixhauser and Charlson/Deyo methods of comorbidity measurement in administrative data. Med Care 2004;42:355-60.

12. Stukenborg GJ, Wagner DP, Connors AF,Jr. Comparison of the performance of two comorbidity measures, with and without information from prior hospitalizations. Med Care 2001;39:727-39.

13. Dominick KL, Dudley TK, Coffman CJ, Bosworth HB. Comparison of three comorbidity measures for predicting health service use in patients with osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2005;53:666-72.

14. Baldwin LM, Klabunde CN, Green P, Barlow W, Wright G. In search of the perfect comorbidity measure for use with administrative claims data: does it exist? Med Care 2006;44:745-53.

15. Adams KF, Schatzkin A, Harris TB, et al. Overweight, obesity, and mortality in a large prospective cohort of persons 50 to 71 years old. N Engl J Med 2006;355:763-78.

16. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Block G, Horwich T, Fonarow GC. Reverse epidemiology of conventional cardiovascular risk factors in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;43:1439-44.

17. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Abbott KC, Salahudeen AK, Kilpatrick RD, Horwich TB. Survival advantages of obesity in dialysis patients. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;81:543-54.

18. Fritz A, Percy C, Jack A, et al., eds. International Classification of Diseases for Oncology. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2000.

19. Sobin LH, Wittekind C, eds. TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours. New York: Wiley-Liss, 2002.

20. Ottery FD. Definition of standardized nutritional assessment and interventional pathways in oncology. Nutrition 1996;12:S15-9.

21. Perry GS, Byers TE, Mokdad AH, Serdula MK, Williamson DF. The validity of self-reports of past body weights by U.S. adults. Epidemiology 1995;6:61-6.

22. Stunkard AJ, Albaum JM. The accuracy of self-reported weights. Am J Clin Nutr 1981;34:1593-9.

23. Prado CM, Lieffers JR, McCargar LJ, et al. Prevalence and clinical implications of sarcopenic obesity in patients with solid tumours of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2008;9:629-35.

24. Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care 2005;43:1130-9.

25. Dignam JJ, Polite BN, Yothers G, et al. Body mass index and outcomes in patients who receive adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:1647-54.

26. Meyerhardt JA, Tepper JE, Niedzwiecki D, et al. Impact of body mass index on outcomes and treatment-related toxicity in patients with stage II and III rectal cancer: findings from Intergroup Trial 0114. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:648-57.

27. Evans WJ, Morley JE, Argiles J, et al. Cachexia: a new definition. Clin Nutr 2008;27:793-9.

28. McNutt LA, Wu C, Xue X, Hafner JP. Estimating the relative risk in cohort studies and clinical trials of common outcomes. Am J Epidemiol 2003;157:940-3.

29. Deddens JA, Petersen MR. Approaches for estimating prevalence ratios. Occup Environ Med 2008;65:481, 501-6.

30. Chen H, Cohen P, Chen S. Biased odds ratios from dichotomization of age. Stat Med 2007;26:3487-97.

31. Cleves MA. From the help desk: Comparing areas under receiver operating characteristic curves from two or more probit or logit models. Stata J 2002;2:301-13.

32. DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. Biometrics 1988;44:837-45.

33. Harrell FE, Jr, Lee KL, Califf RM, Pryor DB, Rosati RA. Regression modelling strategies for improved prognostic prediction. Stat Med 1984;3:143-52.

34. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied Logistic Regression. 2nd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2000.

35. Gould MK, Ananth L, Barnett PG, Veterans Affairs SNAP Cooperative Study Group. A clinical model to estimate the pretest probability of lung cancer in patients with solitary pulmonary nodules. Chest 2007;131:383-8.

36. van Walraven C, Austin PC, Jennings A, Quan H, Forster AJ. A modification of the Elixhauser comorbidity measures into a point system for hospital death using administrative data. Med Care 2009;47:626-33.

37. Li B, Evans D, Faris P, Dean S, Quan H. Risk adjustment performance of Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidities in ICD-9 and ICD-10 administrative databases. BMC Health Serv Res 2008;8:12.

38. Read WL, Tierney RM, Page NC, et al. Differential prognostic impact of comorbidity. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:3099-103.

39. Johnston JA, Wagner DP, Timmons S, Welsh D, Tsevat J, Render ML. Impact of different measures of comorbid disease on predicted mortality of intensive care unit patients. Med Care 2002;40:929-40.
40. Woo JG, Zeller MH, Wilson K, Inge T. Obesity identified by discharge ICD-9 codes underestimates the true prevalence of obesity in hospitalized children. J Pediatr 2009;154:327-31.

CHAPTER 3: A viscerally-driven cachexia syndrome in patients with advanced colorectal cancer: contributions of organ and tumor mass to whole body energy demands

#### **3.1 Introduction**

The etiology of cancer cachexia and other wasting syndromes is not clearly understood, but several hypotheses exist (1-4). One theory is that peripheral stores of fat and protein are mobilized from adipose tissue and skeletal muscle to be used as a fuel for energetically demanding visceral organs, which have increased activity in the tumor-bearing state. The energetic demands of the liver are particularly substantial. Liver represents ~2% of body weight in healthy individuals, but its specific metabolic rate is high (200 kcal/kg/d) (5); consequently, it represents ~20% of whole-body resting energy expenditure (REE). Organ mass has been used to model and predict REE (6, 7) and liver size is a significant predictor of REE (7).

The potential significance of the mass of high-metabolic-rate organs on REE and the development of cancer cachexia has only been suggested (4); however, we suspect that it could be important in colorectal cancer. The presence of hepatomegaly and splenomegaly is common knowledge to oncologists, however, the changes in size of these organs has only been directly quantified in case reports (8). Tumors, as unresectable hepatic metastases, may represent an additional burden of high metabolic rate tissue; importantly, ~50% of all colorectal cancer patients develop this complication (9) which has been associated

with weight loss (10, 11). There is currently very few quantitative data on the contribution of high metabolic rate organs to cancer cachexia-associated weight loss (4, 8, 12); this would require extensive body composition and REE measurements. However, we know small changes in organ mass have the potential to account for a substantial quantity of energy expenditure over time. If liver mass increased by only 500g and this change persisted, this would add an incremental REE of 100kcal/d.

We hypothesized that patients with colorectal cancer may be especially affected by a viscerally driven cachexia syndrome, originating from increasing masses of high-metabolic-rate tissues, especially liver, spleen, and tumor. Several approaches were used to investigate this question. A retrospective serial computed tomography (CT) image analysis was completed to assess longitudinal body composition changes (i.e., liver, spleen, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue) in subjects with colorectal cancer. Using data from this cohort, we used a computational model of human metabolism (13, 14) to estimate the effect of organ changes on whole-body REE. In a second cross-sectional cohort, we evaluated the relationship between REE determined by indirect calorimetry and organ mass.

#### **3.2 Subjects and Methods**

#### **3.2.1 Retrospective cohort**

The study was approved by the Alberta Cancer Board Research Ethics Board (Edmonton, Canada). Our region encompasses Northern Alberta, Canada. A database of all cancer cases in the region (Alberta Cancer Registry) codes

primary cancers by their site and morphology, along with clinical and demographic information. We searched the database with the following criteria: 1) deceased from colorectal cancer (ICD-9-CM codes: 153.X, 154.0, 154.1) between June 1, 2001 and August 31, 2004, and 2) evaluation by CT imaging at least twice between colorectal cancer diagnosis and death. With the understanding that cachexia is most prominent at the end of life and to take advantage of the statistical power of repeated measures, we focused on patients with  $\geq$  4 CT scans on record during the year preceding death.

#### **3.2.2 CT image analysis**

Muscle and adipose tissue surface areas were evaluated at a standard vertebral landmark (the 3<sup>rd</sup> lumbar vertebrae; L3), because tissue areas in this region are significantly related to whole-body muscle and fat masses (15-17). Tissues were analyzed on 2 consecutive transverse CT images extending inferiorly from L3 with Slice-O-Matic V4.3 (Tomovision, Montreal, Canada), which permitted specific tissue demarcation by using Hounsfield unit thresholds of –29 to +150 for skeletal muscles (*psoas, erector spinae, quadratus lumborum, transversus abdominus*, external and internal obliques, *rectus abdominus*) (18), – 150 to –50 for visceral adipose tissue (19), and –190 to –30 for subcutaneous and intermuscular adipose tissues (18). Thresholds were manually adjusted as necessary. Cross-sectional areas (cm<sup>2</sup>) were computed for each tissue by summing tissue pixels and multiplying by the pixel surface area. Mean tissue areas for 2 consecutive images were calculated; the mean coefficient of variance

(CV) of paired images was 1.5% for skeletal muscle and 2.7% for adipose tissue areas.

Regression equations derived from an advanced cancer patient cohort were used to estimate whole-body fat-free mass (FFM) and fat mass from L3 skeletal muscle and total adipose tissue surface areas (17):

- Whole body FFM (kg) = 0.30 \* (skeletal muscle at L3 using CT (cm<sup>2</sup>)) + 6.06; r<sup>2</sup>=0.88 (17)
- Whole body fat mass (kg) = 0.042 \* (total adipose tissue at L3 (cm<sup>2</sup>)) + 11.2; r<sup>2</sup>=0.77 (17)

Muscle surface area was also used to estimate whole body muscle using an algorithm derived from a healthy population (15) as no equation currently exists to predict this compartment from L3 muscle surface area in advanced cancer patients

 Whole body skeletal muscle volume (L) = 0.166 \* (skeletal muscle 5 cm above L4-L5 (cm<sup>2</sup>)) + 2.142, r<sup>2</sup>=0.855 (15)

A density of 1.04 g/cm<sup>3</sup> was used to convert muscle volume to mass (20).

Liver and spleen volumes (cm<sup>3</sup>) were also measured with CT images. Because the images encompassed the entire liver and spleen, the organ tissue surface area on each image was analyzed. Liver and spleen surface areas on each consecutive image, the image thickness (usually 6.5mm) and separation (usually 5mm) were then used by the Slice-O-matic *db volumes* function to calculate volume. Liver volume included metastases if present. To estimate organ mass from volume, a density of 1.05g/cm<sup>3</sup> was used for liver and 1.054g/cm<sup>3</sup> for spleen (20, 21).

#### **3.2.3 Prospective Cohort**

We investigated the relationship between organ mass and measured REE in a second cohort of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (n=18). Subjects were recruited from the Cross Cancer Institute (Edmonton, Canada) between April 1, 2005 and October 31, 2006 and provided written informed consent. Each participant had a REE measurement by indirect calorimetry (VMax 29N, SensorMedics, Yorba Linda, California). Prior to the REE assessment, subjects were asked to fast for 12 hours and refrain from strenuous exercise and alcohol for 24 hours. Participants rested for 30 minutes after which a canopy was placed over their head and shoulders for 30 minutes to analyze  $O_2$  consumption and  $CO_2$ production. Breath samples were measured until a steady state was reached for 15 minutes. The Weir equation was used to calculate REE (22). On the same morning as the REE assessment, all participants also underwent a dual energy xray absorptiometry (DXA) scan (LUNAR Prodigy High Speed Digital Fan Beam X-Ray-Based Densitometer with enCORE 9.20 software; General Electric, Madison, Wisconsin) (23) to measure whole-body FFM. All subjects also had a CT scan 14  $\pm$  7 days from this date which was used to quantify organ mass as described above.

#### 3.2.4 Mathematical Model Simulations

A mathematical model has been developed which simulates the dynamics of whole-body metabolism, body composition changes, and REE during semi-

starvation and refeeding (13). This model was also used to integrate data on the metabolic changes in patients with cancer cachexia to show how these derangements synergize with reduced energy intake to result in progressive loss of body constituents and alterations in energy metabolism (14). The initial conditions of the cachexia simulation (14) were selected to represent a typical cancer patient before disease onset: a 69 year old male with an initial body weight of 77.7 kg, 32% body fat, a dietary intake of 2400kcal/d and a REE of 1606 kcal/d (30.6 kcal/kg FFM/d). In the previously reported simulation (15), we applied several reported metabolic derangements defining cancer cachexia, including an increase in rates of lipolysis ( $+50 \pm 30\%$ ), proteolysis ( $+40 \pm 10\%$ ), and Cori cycle (+300  $\pm$  100%), a tumor mass of 200  $\pm$  100g; and an energy intake that linearly decreased to 1700 kcal/d by the end of the 12 month simulation. We also assumed that the liver and spleen remained the same as those of healthy adults (1.8kg for liver, 250g for spleen), rather than shrinking in response to reduced energy intake (8, 13). In all simulations, the liver- and spleen-specific metabolic rates were 200kcal/kg/d (5) and 80kcal/kg/d (24), respectively. Direct measures of tissue-specific metabolic rates are calculated by pairing blood flow with the arteriovenous oxygen concentration difference over a tissue of interest (5).

In the current study, we modified the original cancer cachexia simulation (14) using the directly determined liver and spleen masses, in place of our prior assumptions. Furthermore, we adjusted the decline of dietary energy intake to match the average measured body composition changes of the retrospective cohort. We found that a linear decrease of energy intake from 2400 kcal/d to

2150 kcal/d at the end of the 62 week simulation allowed the simulations to match the retrospective body composition changes.

#### **3.2.5 Data Analysis**

Statistical analysis was completed using SPSS Version 15.0 (Chicago, Illinois) and Stata Version 10.0 (College Station, Texas). All values are presented as means  $\pm$  standard deviation, significance was taken at  $\alpha$ =0.05 and all tests were two sided. Two sample t-tests and  $\chi$ 2 tests were used to compare patient cohorts. For statistical analysis of absolute tissue masses in the retrospective cohort, we completed repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni pairwise comparisons. Simple linear regression was used to examine relations in the prospective cohort.

Tissue rates of change were calculated for the retrospective cohort. Tissue changes in each scan interval were expressed as a percentage and divided by the number of days in each interval as the timing of CT imaging was unique for each individual. The daily rate of loss or gain was multiplied by 100 to form a standard unit, % change/100d to allow for comparisons.

#### **3.3 Results**

#### **3.3.1 Retrospective Cohort**

Our initial search criteria identified 262 patients. There were 1108 CT scans available in this cohort (range 2–16 per patient), which had been conducted for diagnosis, staging or follow-up. We focused on a subset of 34 patients who had  $\geq$  4 CT scans in the year preceding death. This subset was 35% female, died at 60 ± 8 years of age after surviving a median of 22 months. The distribution of

primary tumor sites was 68% colon (ICD-9-CM: 153.X), 6% rectosigmoid junction (ICD-9-CM: 154.0), and 26% rectum (ICD-9-CM: 154.1); 91% of this group had adenocarcinomas. In total, this group had 156 scans available for assessment; all images were analyzed with the exception of subcutaneous adipose tissue data from 2 obese patients, which was not fully visible in the image field of view. In addition, liver and spleen could not be accurately identified in 2 different patients, and liver was not assessed in 2 additional individuals due to either a resection or images not covering the entire organ. Selection bias was not apparent in this subset (n=34); we found that the sex distribution, age at death, survival time, primary tumor site, tumor morphology and body composition features (i.e., muscle and adipose tissues) in the last 2 months of life were not different from the overall cohort (p values > 0.1).

The changes in liver, spleen, muscle, and adipose tissue over time are shown (**Table 3-1**). Representative cases of liver and spleen gain (**Figure 3-1A**) and muscle and adipose tissue loss (**Figure 3-1B**) are illustrated. At the earliest studied time point  $(10.7 \pm 2.7 \text{ months from death})$ , the liver and spleen of the cancer patients (Table 1) were larger than those reported for healthy adults (i.e., liver: 1.4 - 1.8kg; spleen 0.15 - 0.25kg) (8, 20). Liver increased thereafter (mean gain +0.74 kg) over 9.5 months (p=0.010); there was a trend towards increased spleen mass (p=0.077). Over the same period, ~4.2kg of muscle (p<0.001) and ~3.5kg of fat (p=0.004) were lost, and the percentage of estimated FFM occupied by the liver increased from 4.5% to 7.0% (p<0.001). The range of liver masses at

 $1.2 \pm 0.5$  months from death was considerable (interquartile range: 2.0kg – 3.8kg), and many patients had evidence of liver metastases (Figure 3-1A).

The largest tissue changes occurred in the last interval studied; 80% of the mean gain in liver, 69% of the mean loss in muscle and 91% of the mean loss in adipose tissue occurred during this time. The rates of tissue loss or gain over time (% change/100d) are shown in **Figure 3-2**; maximal rates were observed close to death. Mean skeletal muscle tissue loss accelerated logarithmically ( $r^2=0.99$ ) to – 13%/100d at 2 months from death. Mean adipose tissue loss also accelerated logarithmically ( $r^2=0.95$ ) to –41%/100d at 2 months from death. Mean liver gain followed a polynomial relationship ( $r^2=0.90$ ) to +39%/100d at 2 months from death.

#### **3.3.2 Prospective Cohort**

The cohort (n=18) was 45% female and  $60 \pm 11$  years of age at time of assessment. On average, participants had  $46.2 \pm 12$ kg FFM, which included a 1.9  $\pm 0.5$ kg liver (range: 1.1kg – 3.2kg) and 0.31  $\pm 0.1$ kg spleen (range: 0.12kg – 0.71kg). Participants had a measured REE of  $1503 \pm 295$ kcal/d ( $33 \pm 6$  kcal/kg FFM/d). Resting energy expenditure was higher in patients with larger livers (r<sup>2</sup>=0.35, p=0.010) (**Figure 3-3A**). Moreover, as liver occupied a larger percentage of whole body FFM, REE/kg FFM/d increased (r<sup>2</sup>=0.35, p=0.010) (**Figure 3-3B**- dashed line).

The slope of the regression between liver mass and REE (Figure 3-3A) is a value of interest, which potentially indicates a high composite metabolic rate of the liver and metastases (i.e., 343 kcal for each 1kg increase). This is

considerably higher than 200kcal/kg/d reported for healthy human liver *in situ*. However, this must be considered with caution because no data exist for the metabolic rate *in situ* of liver with metastases. While this awaits direct measurement, done by pairing blood flow with the arteriovenous oxygen concentration difference over the tissue of interest (5), a high metabolic rate may be inferred from the relatively high rates of glucose uptake; this is the basis for detecting metastases by imaging using <sup>18</sup>F-deoxyglucose (**Figure 3-4**).

#### **3.3.3 Simulation Results**

Key assumptions in our earlier model (stable liver mass, tumor mass  $\leq$ 200g) appear to have been quite conservative relative to the directly determined values (Table 3-1), which we used to refine the model. Model simulations of the healthy reference condition (dotted curves) compared with reduced energy intake alone (dashed dotted curves), our previous cachexia simulation (14) (dashed curves), and the new cachexia simulation based on the directly determined liver and spleen masses of our retrospective colorectal cancer cohort (from Table 3-1) (solid curves) are illustrated in **Figure 3-5**. The new cachexia simulation culminated at an REE of 1900kcal/d (39.7kcal/kg FFM/d), which is 294kcal/d (9.3kcal/kg FFM/d) above the healthy reference condition, 331kcal/d (9.7kcal/kg FFM/d) above the reduced energy intake simulation, and 144kcal/d (3.8kcal/kg FFM/d) above the previous cachexia simulation. Notably, the late rapid increase of liver mass measured in the retrospective colorectal cancer patient cohort was related to a steep increase in estimated metabolic rate during the last 3 months of the simulation. The estimated contribution of spleen was negligible, because of

the small overall size, lower specific metabolic rate, and relative constancy in size of this organ. During the last 3 months of the simulation, the cumulative energy expended by the liver was estimated to be 31,900 kcal for the healthy reference condition, 31,400 kcal for reduced energy intake alone, and 49,600 kcal for the new cachexia simulation (i.e., an increment of 17,700 kcal in the liver).

We also plotted the relation between the percentage of FFM occupied by the liver and REE (kcal/kg FFM/d) from the cachexia simulation incorporating the changes in organ mass from Table 3-1 (Figure 3-3B- solid line); this appeared to follow a similar relationship to the prospective cohort.

#### **3.4 Discussion**

Our study captured detailed progressive body composition changes occurring in patients with colorectal cancer during disease progression until death. These changes were typified by exponential increases in the size of the liver and hepatic metastases, with concurrent accelerations of muscle and fat loss. The longitudinal CT image review provides a basis for a quantitative estimation of the contribution of visceral organs and metastases to REE. Our results suggest that a considerable catabolic influence underlying colorectal cancer cachexia is exerted by the energetic demands of liver and metastases and to a lesser extent the spleen. This is supported by estimates based on a computational model of human metabolism as well as direct measures of REE and body composition in advanced colorectal cancer patients. In patients with extensive metastatic disease and organomegaly, these visceral changes could exert a quantitatively important catabolic effect by virtue of their size and consumption of energy. This increased

energy expenditure occurs during the period of most rapid weight loss, but importantly, also in the end stages of anorexia and hence very low food intake, which likely results in a substantial energy deficit. In a healthy individual, energy balance is maintained by an increase in energy intake, but in patients with advanced cancer, it may be difficult to envisage an increased energy expenditure being covered by an incremental oral intake in a population with reduced energy intakes sometimes less than basal metabolism (25). This increased energy expenditure and consequent energy imbalance should be included among the major causes of colorectal cancer cachexia in individuals with metastatic disease.

Cachexia has often been attributed to the catabolic actions of humoral mediators (i.e., cytokines, proteolysis–inducing or lipolytic factors), insulin resistance and low dietary intakes as outlined in current review articles (1-3); consequently, most treatments have focused on these factors. In patients with substantial tumor burden and organomegaly, these treatments may have limited efficacy, since the primary problem (extensive disease burden) is not corrected by these agents. Quantitative analysis of disease burden may be included in future studies to help to explain why some treatments are ineffective in certain individuals.

#### **3.4.1 Methodological Considerations**

A longitudinal retrospective CT image review was a realistic approach to evaluate body composition changes; patients had frequent scans throughout their illness and were not required to undergo additional testing for this research. Prospective studies of body composition using other methods are comparatively

difficult to conduct as participation rates are low and withdrawal rates are high in patients with very advanced disease (26, 27). The group studied in the present study was not different from a regional cohort of patients who died from colorectal cancer with respect to disease characteristics, demographics and body composition, and is thus likely a representative sample.

Computed tomography imaging allows discrimination between different FFM components (i.e., muscle, liver, spleen) which appears important as we saw that different constituents change in opposite directions. These distinctions cannot be made with other methods such as DXA or bioelectrical impedance. The quantification of organ volume with CT images is reasonably precise, and our interobserver CV values (3.6% for liver and 4.0% for spleen) are similar to previously reported values for organs (28). Muscle and adipose tissue areas determined from CT images have a typical CV of 1-2% (17) and whole body tissue masses estimated from the CT images are correct to the nearest 3.5kg for fat mass and 3.0kg for FFM (17). One limitation of our analysis is the inability to quantitatively discriminate liver tissue and metastases. We suspect the majority of progressive increases in liver were metastases; however, liver parenchyma has been reported to increase in colorectal cancer patients with liver metastases (29), which may be connected with increased gluconeogenesis and synthesis of acutephase proteins (4).

Our study is strengthened by the use of a mathematical model (13, 14) that allowed us to estimate the effect of organ mass changes on REE (Figure 3-5). Computational modeling is a new tool that can integrate clinical data to build a

conceptual framework for the understanding of altered energy balance states. This is especially useful in contexts where patient vulnerability limits the use of invasive tests and compliance is limited by disease progression. Using this model, we showed that the range of increases in REE computed with the new cancer cachexia simulation (up to 1900kcal/d or 39.7kcal/kg FFM/d) (Figure 3-5solid line) is consistent with reported values for patients with advanced cancer (26, 30).

A further strength of our study was the simultaneous measurement of different FFM components and REE in the prospective cohort to explore the relation between body composition and REE in advanced colorectal cancer. This also provided information to help authenticate results from the model. These data suggest that liver mass is proportional to REE (Figure 3-4A). The metabolic rate of the liver and metastases merits further study, because our results suggest that 200 kcal/kg/d may be a conservative estimate. There are several possible reasons for an increased liver-specific metabolic rate in this population. The liver plays a pivotal role in systemic inflammation, acute phase protein synthesis and gluconeogenesis which have been documented in advanced cancer (1, 31-33). Moreover, increases in tumor are associated with higher substrate turnover and oxygen consumption (34).

### 3.4.2 Implications of High Metabolic Rate Tissues on Body Composition and Resting Energy Expenditure

The largest observed changes in body composition in the retrospective cohort occurred between 4.2 and 1.2 months from death. Liver increased and

muscle decreased especially rapidly during this time. This resulted in a shift to an increased proportion of FFM occupied by higher-metabolic-rate tissues. In healthy populations, the relationship between the proportions of higher metabolic rate organ mass relative to FFM has been found to explain some of the variance in REE (6, 7, 28). Our study affirms that this relationship is quantitatively important in colorectal cancer cachexia, and perhaps other cancers where organomegaly and liver metastases are common.

#### Tables

Mean months	Visceral Organ Mass +		Peripheral Tissues***	
to death at	Tumor**			
time of CT	Liver +	Spleen	Skeletal Muscle	Fat Mass
image	Metastases	Volume	L3 Surface Area	L3 Adipose Tissue
	Volume $(cm^3)$	$(cm^3)$	$(cm^2)$	Surface Area (cm <sup>2</sup> )
	(Estimated	(Estimated	(Estimated Whole	(Estimated Whole
	Mass (kg))	Mass (kg))	Body Mass (kg))	Body Fat Mass (kg))
n*	30	32	34	32
$10.7 \pm 2.7$	$2153 \pm 629^{b,\dagger}$	$302 \pm 204$	$151 \pm 38^{bc}$	$339 \pm 206^{b}$
	$(2.3 \pm 0.7)$	$(0.32 \pm 0.2)$	$(28.3 \pm 6.6)$	$(25.4 \pm 8.7)$
$7.1 \pm 1.3$	$2245 \pm 692^{b}$	$326 \pm 220$	$149 \pm 37^{b}$	$345 \pm 208^{b}$
	$(2.4 \pm 0.7)$	$(0.34 \pm 0.2)$	$(28.0 \pm 6.4)$	$(25.7 \pm 8.7)$
$4.2 \pm 1.2$	2291 ± 771 <sup>b</sup>	$345 \pm 237$	$144 \pm 37^{c}$	$330 \pm 214^{b}$
	$(2.4 \pm 0.8)$	$(0.36 \pm 0.3)$	$(27.0 \pm 6.4)$	$(25.1 \pm 9.0)$
$1.2 \pm 0.5$	$2857 \pm 1435^{a}$	$366 \pm 238$	$127 \pm 36^{a}$	$255 \pm 190^{a}$
	$(3.0 \pm 1.5)$	$(0.39 \pm 0.3)$	$(24.1 \pm 6.3)$	$(21.9 \pm 8.0)$
Overall change	$+704 \text{ cm}^{3}$	$+64 \text{ cm}^{3}$	$-24 \text{ cm}^2$	$-84 \text{ cm}^2$
in 9.5 months‡	$(+0.74 \ kg)$	(+0.067	$(-4.2 \ kg)$	$(-3.5 \ kg)$
	<i>p</i> =0.010	kg)	<i>P</i> < 0.001	<i>p</i> =0.004
		<i>p</i> =0.077		

## Table 3-1: Absolute tissue masses quantified with computed tomography (CT) imaging in patients who died of colorectal cancer

Means in the same column with different superscript letters are significantly different, p < 0.05 (repeated-measures ANOVA with Bonferroni pairwise comparisons).

\*The number of subjects varies because of missing data, as outlined in Results. \*\*Liver and spleen masses were quantified as outlined in Subjects and Methods. \*\*\*L3 tissue cross-sectional areas (cm<sup>2</sup>) were used to estimate whole-body skeletal muscle and fat mass from regression equations reported by Shen et al (15) and Mourtzakis et al (17), respectively.

 $\dagger$ Mean  $\pm$  SD (all such values).

‡p value for change between 10.7 and 1.2 mo from death (repeated-measures ANOVA with Bonferroni pairwise comparison).

#### Figures

# Figure 3-1: Representative patients showing change in (a) liver and spleen and (b) skeletal muscle and adipose tissue

Transverse computed tomography images from (a) a 54 year old woman at the  $12^{th}$  thoracic vertebrae (i) 10.0 and (ii) 1.5 months from death; the liver with metastases (LM) increased by 1.3kg to 3.1kg and spleen (SP) increased by 0.30kg to 0.50kg, and (b) a 52 year old man at the 3<sup>rd</sup> lumbar vertebrae (i) 7.7 and (ii) 0.8 months from death; estimated whole body muscle (SM) decreased by 8.8kg to 17.0kg and whole body adipose tissue (AT) decreased by 2.0kg to 16.7kg.

LM, liver and metastases; SP, spleen; SM, skeletal muscle; AT, adipose tissue.



Figure 3-2: Time course rates of gain or loss for liver (including metastases), muscle, and adipose tissue from the retrospective colorectal cancer patient cohort (n=34)



Scan intervals were categorized relative to the time of death and divided into 5 categories. Mean rates of change (% change/100days) were determined for each tissue at each time point. Best-fit regression lines were used to determine the overall rate of change relation over time. The rate of change in liver followed a polynomial relation: liver % change/100days = 0.0017(time to death (days))<sup>2</sup> – 0.7316(time to death (days)) + 75.56, r<sup>2</sup>=0.90 (triangles and dotted curve). The loss of skeletal muscle was logarithmic: skeletal muscle % change/100days = 8.8303Ln(time to death (days)) – 50.746, r<sup>2</sup>=0.99 (diamonds and solid curve). Loss of adipose tissue was also logarithmic: adipose tissue % change/100days = 32.029Ln(time to death (days)) – 172.92, r<sup>2</sup>=0.95 (squares and dashed curve).





Liver mass (including metastases) was determined by computed tomography image analysis. REE was determined by indirect calorimetry and fat-free mass (FFM) was determined by dual energy x-ray absorptiometry. Simple linear regression was used to assess relations. (A) REE (kcal/day) = 343.52(liver mass (kg)) + 841.49, (r<sup>2</sup>=0.35, p=0.010). (B) REE (kcal/kg FFM/day) = 3.0011(% FFM occupied by the liver) + 20.513, (r<sup>2</sup>=0.35, p=0.010) (dashed line). The solid line indicates a similar relation occurring in the new cancer cachexia simulation incorporating the measured liver masses from the retrospective cohort (Table 3-1).

Figure 3-4: <sup>18</sup>F-Deoxyglucose positron emission tomography (PET) scan of a patient with extensive liver metastases



Figure 3-5: Simulation of resting energy expenditure (REE) over 62 weeks based on measured liver and spleen masses from the retrospective colorectal cancer patient cohort (n=34)



All calculations are based on an assumed liver-specific metabolic rate of 200 kcal/kg/day and spleen specific-metabolic rate of 80kcal/kg/day. The original cachexia simulation (constant 1.8kg liver and 250g spleen) (14) (dashed curve) can be contrasted to the cachexia simulation specifying the organ masses match the data at different time points from the retrospective cohort computed tomography images (Table 3-1) (solid curve). The healthy reference simulation in energy balance (constant 1.8kg liver and 250g spleen) (dotted curve) and the reduced energy intake simulation (dashed dotted curve) are also shown (13). (A) Resting energy expenditure (REE) (kcal/day) and (B) REE (kcal/kg fat free mass (FFM)/day).

#### Endnote

A version of this chapter has been published in the *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. The citation is as follows:

Lieffers JR, Mourtzakis M, Hall KD, McCargar LJ, Prado CM, Baracos VE. A viscerally driven cachexia syndrome in patients with advanced colorectal cancer: contributions of organ and tumor mass to whole-body energy demands. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;89:1173-9.

#### References

1. Delano MJ, Moldawer LL. The origins of cachexia in acute and chronic inflammatory diseases. Nutr Clin Pract 2006;21:68-81.

2. Laviano A, Meguid MM, Inui A, Muscaritoli M, Rossi-Fanelli F. Therapy insight: Cancer anorexia-cachexia syndrome--when all you can eat is yourself. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2005;2:158-65.

3. Baracos VE. Cancer-associated cachexia and underlying biological mechanisms. Annu Rev Nutr 2006;26:435-61.

4. Elia M. Tissue distribution and energetics in weight loss and undernutrition. In: Kinney J, Tucker H, eds. Physiology, Stress, and Malnutrition: Functional Correlates, Nutritional Intervention. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997:383-411.

5. Elia M. Organ and tissue contribution to metabolic rate. In: Kinney J, Tucker H, eds. Energy metabolism: Tissue Determinants and Cellular Corollaries. New York: Raven Press, 1992:61-77.

6. Gallagher D, Belmonte D, Deurenberg P, et al. Organ-tissue mass measurement allows modeling of REE and metabolically active tissue mass. Am J Physiol 1998;275:E249-58.

7. Illner K, Brinkmann G, Heller M, Bosy-Westphal A, Muller MJ. Metabolically active components of fat free mass and resting energy expenditure in nonobese adults. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000;278:E308-15.

8. Heymsfield SB, McManus CB. Tissue components of weight loss in cancer patients. A new method of study and preliminary observations. Cancer 1985;55(Suppl 1):238-49.

9. Taylor I. Adjuvant chemotherapy after resection of liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:1198-201.

10. Fordy C, Glover C, Henderson DC, Summerbell C, Wharton R, Allen-Mersh TG. Contribution of diet, tumour volume and patient-related factors to weight loss in patients with colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg. 1999;86:639-44.

11. Zibari GB, Riche A, Zizzi HC, et al. Surgical and nonsurgical management of primary and metastatic liver tumors. Am Surg 1998;64:211-20; discussion 220-1.

12. Jebb SA, Osborne RJ, Dixon AK, Bleehen NM, Elia M. Measurements of resting energy expenditure and body composition before and after treatment of small cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 1994;5:915-9.

13. Hall KD. Computational model of in vivo human energy metabolism during semistarvation and refeeding. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2006;291:E23-37.

14. Hall KD, Baracos VE. Computational modeling of cancer cachexia. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2008;11:214-21.

15. Shen W, Punyanitya M, Wang Z, et al. Total body skeletal muscle and adipose tissue volumes: Estimation from a single abdominal cross-sectional image. J Appl Physiol 2004;97:2333-8.

16. Shen W, Punyanitya M, Wang Z, et al. Visceral adipose tissue: Relations between single-slice areas and total volume. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:271-8.

17. Mourtzakis M, Prado CM, Lieffers JR, Reiman T, McCargar LJ, Baracos VE. A practical and precise approach to quantification of body composition in cancer patients using computed tomography images acquired during routine care. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2008;33:997-1006.

18. Mitsiopoulos N, Baumgartner RN, Heymsfield SB, Lyons W, Gallagher D, Ross R. Cadaver validation of skeletal muscle measurement by magnetic resonance imaging and computerized tomography. J Appl Physiol 1998;85:115-22.

19. Miller KD, Jones E, Yanovski JA, Shankar R, Feuerstein I, Falloon J. Visceral abdominal-fat accumulation associated with use of indinavir. Lancet 1998;351:871-5.

20. Snyder WS, Cooke MJ, Manssett ES, Larhansen LT, Howells GP, Tipton IH. Report of the task group on reference man. Oxford, UK: Pergamon, 1975.

21. Duck FA. Physical properties of tissue. A comprehensive reference book. London: Academic Press, 1990.

22. Weir JB. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J Physiol 1949;109:1-9.

23. Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Baumgartner RN. Human body composition: Advances in models and methods. Annu Rev Nutr 1997;17:527-58.

24. Vaupel P, Wendling P, Thome H, Fischer TJ. Respiratory gas exchange and glucose uptake by the human spleen in situ (author's transl). Klin Wochenschr 1977;55:239-42.

25. Hutton JL, Martin L, Field CJ et al. Dietary patterns in patients with advanced cancer: implications for anorexia-cachexia therapy. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:1163-70.

26. Harvie MN, Howell A, Thatcher N, Baildam A, Campbell I. Energy balance in patients with advanced NSCLC, metastatic melanoma and metastatic breast cancer receiving chemotherapy--a longitudinal study. Br J Cancer 2005;92:673-80. 27. Fouladiun M, Korner U, Bosaeus I, Daneryd P, Hyltander A, Lundholm KG. Body composition and time course changes in regional distribution of fat and lean tissue in unselected cancer patients on palliative care--correlations with food intake, metabolism, exercise capacity, and hormones. Cancer 2005;103:2189-98.

28. Muller MJ, Bosy-Westphal A, Kutzner D, Heller M. Metabolically active components of fat-free mass and resting energy expenditure in humans: Recent lessons from imaging technologies. Obes Rev 2002;3:113-22.

29. Purkiss SF, Williams NS. Growth rate and percentage hepatic replacement of colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg 1993;80:1036-8.

30. Barber MD, Ross JA, Voss AC, Tisdale MJ, Fearon KC. The effect of an oral nutritional supplement enriched with fish oil on weight-loss in patients with pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 1999;81:80-6.

31. Falconer JS, Fearon KC, Ross JA, et al. Acute-phase protein response and survival duration of patients with pancreatic cancer. Cancer 1995;75:2077-82.

32. Falconer JS, Fearon KC, Plester CE, Ross JA, Carter DC. Cytokines, the acute-phase response, and resting energy expenditure in cachectic patients with pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg 1994;219:325-31.

33. Fearon KC, Barber MD, Falconer JS, McMillan DC, Ross JA, Preston T. Pancreatic cancer as a model: Inflammatory mediators, acute-phase response, and cancer cachexia. World J Surg 1999;23:584-8.

34. Koea JB, Shaw JH. The effect of tumor bulk on the metabolic response to cancer. Ann Surg 1992;215:282-8.

#### **CHAPTER 4: Final Discussion**

#### **4.1 Introduction**

The purpose of this work was to further understand nutritional status, especially body weight and composition during colorectal cancer progression. A population-based study of colorectal cancer patients was conducted using administrative health data to collect information on the primary disease, comorbidities, demographics, CT imaging to assess body composition, and the PG-SGA questionnaire to obtain information on height, body weight, weight history, and performance status. These studies occurred at different places in the cancer disease trajectory; Figure 1-1 situates the studies on a time line. Results from Chapter 2, which occurred around the time patients were first considered for systemic chemotherapy and involved patients in stages II-IV, revealed which disease conditions predicted survival, and showed that weight related conditions (e.g., underweight and weight loss) lost some independent predictive power when they were placed in statistical models with other comorbid conditions. This chapter also revealed that weight related conditions (e.g., obesity and weight loss) were not captured in administrative health data. In Chapter 3, a serial CT image analysis assessed longitudinal body composition changes during the last 12 months preceding death from colorectal cancer in 34 patients with stage IV cancer. Body composition changes were typified by exponential increases in tumor with concurrent accelerations of muscle and fat loss.

These results have the potential to make a difference in how colorectal cancer patients are treated and how they are researched, which will lead to better patient outcomes and more accurate research findings. This following discussion outlines key points related to the work described in the previous chapters organized into topics of particular interest to three different groups of professionals who treat and research colorectal cancer patients: dietitians, oncologists, and health services researchers. I will also present suggestions for further research and changes to practice in these disciplines.

#### 4.2 Key points for the Dietitian

Nutritional status is a complex phenomenon because it is determined by multiple factors. The work presented in Chapters 2 and 3 has revealed some key findings around comorbidities, the importance of tissue organ level body composition assessment, and the impact of body composition on resting energy expenditure (REE). Dietitians may want to consider these findings when conducting nutrition assessments and performing interventions.

# • Comorbidities are an important part of a complete nutritional assessment in cancer patients

It is widely accepted that comorbidities affect the ongoing health of colorectal cancer patients, as would be expected since > 50% of new colorectal cancer diagnoses occur in individuals  $\geq$  70 years (1). One previous study suggested that colon cancer patients 65–74 years and  $\geq$  75 years have a median of ~4 and ~5 comorbidities, respectively (2). Comorbidities in cancer patients, especially those that may be longstanding and/or uncontrolled, have the potential

to explain and/or exacerbate the development of malnutrition, weight loss and cachexia (3). Several conditions, other than cancer, are known to be associated with wasting syndromes such as chronic heart failure, renal failure, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (4). From the results presented in Chapter 2, some colorectal cancer patients have these conditions.

It is known that patients present with both low and high body weights (i.e., underweight and obesity) when they are first seen by a medical oncologist for consideration of systemic chemotherapy as found in the cohort presented in Chapter 2. Rates of underweight from this cohort (BMI < 18.5: 3.1%) were just slightly higher than the general Canadian adult population (2%) (5). Rates of obesity from the cohort in Chapter 2 (19.7%) were slightly lower than the general adult population (23.1%). This is a bit of a surprise because obesity is a risk factor for this type of cancer. However, this low prevalence may be due to the fact that many patients had lost weight in the time prior to coming to the new patient medical oncology clinic. Examination of the 6 month weight history in this cohort finds that 29.8% of patients were obese within the 6 months preceding the clinic visit.

Sarcopenia (or low muscle mass generally regarded as < 2 standard deviations below the healthy young adult sex specific mean (6)) is also common when patients are first seen in medical oncology. In the same patient cohort presented in Chapter 2 and by using the method described by Prado et al. (7), it was found that~46% of patients were sarcopenic. Even though the mean age of this population was  $64 \pm 12$  years, the prevalence of sarcopenia is much higher

than reported for the healthy elderly < 70 years (13.5–24.1%) and similar to what is reported for healthy elderly > 80 years (43.2–60.0%) (6). Because of this high prevalence of sarcopenia, determining the origin of low muscle mass is relevant as it is unlikely to be caused entirely by the cancer itself. It remains unclear if and how comorbidities may explain sarcopenia, underweight, and obesity.

 
 Table 4-1 presents a univariate analysis to determine how comorbidities
 classified according to the Elixhauser categories predict three different body weight conditions: sarcopenia, underweight, and obesity at the time of presentation to new patient medical oncology clinics. This is the same cohort presented in Chapter 2 except that it only includes patients who had a CT scan near to the clinic visit date. The comorbidities were collected from hospitalizations occurring in the one year prior to the clinic visit date from inpatient administrative hospitalization data as described in Chapter 2. Renal failure was the only significant predictor of sarcopenia. This makes sense as this has been linked with wasting disease (8). Chronic pulmonary disease (a known risk factor for wasting diseases), pulmonary circulation disorders (which are linked with lung diseases such as COPD), hypertension with complications (which is a risk factor for renal failure and heart failure, two well known wasting diseases), and renal failure were significant predictors of underweight. Diabetes with complications, which is well known to be associated with excess body weight, was a significant predictor of obesity. Although some of the comorbidities listed in this table might be expected to predict sarcopenia, underweight or obesity, there may be other factors that might be responsible for

these conditions that may not be listed in this table. One such factor that may be associated with sarcopenia is prolonged best rest (9). This was also tested in the same patient cohort from Table 4-1. Patients who spent < 5 days (including no days) in hospital had significantly more muscle than those who spent  $\geq$  30 days in hospital in the year prior to the clinic visit date. Females who spent < 5 days (or no days) in hospital had a L3 skeletal muscle index of 43.8cm<sup>2</sup>/m<sup>2</sup> which is higher compared to those who spent  $\geq$  30 days in hospital (38.8cm<sup>2</sup>/m<sup>2</sup>) (p=0.0075). Males who spent < 5 days (or no days) in hospital had a L3 skeletal muscle index of 53.6cm<sup>2</sup>/m<sup>2</sup> compared to those who spent  $\geq$ 30 days in hospital (46.3cm<sup>2</sup>/m<sup>2</sup>) (p < 0.001). Specifically for sarcopenia, other comorbidities such as previous fractures and infections may also be related to low muscle mass. This is a topic worthy of further investigation.

When dietitians are looking to evaluate the impact of comorbidities on nutritional status in cancer patients, it is important that they have knowledge of where to procure this information and that a comprehensive identification method is chosen. Comorbidities are rarely included as part of nutrition screening tools, but are part of a complete nutritional assessment. In clinical settings, dietitians can obtain comorbidities from asking the patient and searching medical records. Administrative health data would not be an appropriate source in clinical settings because it is not available until long after the patient has used the health care system. Therefore, it should be reserved for research purposes. Administrative health data, with proper ethical approvals, can be obtained in Canada from the provincial ministry of health or the Canadian Institutes for Health Information.

The results presented in Chapter 2 suggest that the Elixhauser measure (10) is a comprehensive tool that should be considered for use by dietitians instead of the more commonly used Charlson comorbidities (11). In dietetic practice and research, the Elixhauser measure has been rarely used, but it has important potential uses as a more comprehensive risk adjustment method by researchers or simply a tool to identify more relevant conditions that may impact nutritional status in the clinical setting compared to the comorbidities identified using the Charlson method (11).

Clinical dietitians will see patients who possess different types and combinations of conditions which may have dissimilar nutritional treatments and goals. The results presented in Chapter 2 revealed that colorectal cancer patients commonly have comorbidities where those nutritional treatments and recommendations may be different from those suggested for the cancer. For example, a patient with type 2 diabetes who is diagnosed with advanced cancer might be recommended in one regard to consume more energy dense foods to maintain weight (for the advanced cancer) and in another regard to consume more lower energy dense foods to lose weight (for the type 2 diabetes). Patients with different illnesses may also be assigned care from different dietitians, who specialize in the treatment of the different conditions which may have dissimilar nutritional aims. Dietitians are trained to assess and provide personalized guidance on how to best meet the nutritional needs of the patients, even when they have many different conditions with conflicting nutrition recommendations. However, it is possible recommendations may vary depending on the reason for

the visit (see example above). Ideally, all recommendations provided by dietitians should consider all relevant conditions to best meet the care of the patient, but this is not always the case as reported by Orrevall et al. (12). They found that patients felt confused and uncertain when information given by different dietitians about different conditions (e.g., poor intake and diabetes or short bowel syndrome or an ileostomy) was conflicting. Conflicting information about nutrition is an added source of stress for patients at a time when consuming an adequate diet is already difficult. Dietitians treating cancer patients in oncology settings and likewise dietitians treating cancer patients in clinics specializing in other diseases may wish to consult with one another to best meet patient needs.

Although comorbidities have the potential to affect nutritional recommendations, dietitians need to consider patient prognosis when deciding the best nutritional treatment for the patient. In patients who have earlier stages of disease, comorbidities are something that likely needs to be considered by the dietitian and treated nutritionally if appropriate and necessary. However, in later stages of disease, especially when the disease becomes refractory to treatment (as seen in Chapter 3), aggressive nutrition interventions of any sort would not be possible or appropriate. At this point, the risk and burden of artificial nutritional support likely offsets any potential benefit. When patients are in the last few months of life and cared for in palliative settings, nutritional goals are to maximize quality of life and decrease suffering (13). At this time, the patient and family also need support and knowledge to properly cope with the situation (14).

## Body composition is an important part of a complete nutritional assessment and a significant determinant of resting energy expenditure in cancer patients

Fat free mass (FFM) encompasses all non-fat containing tissues in the body, which includes organs and skeletal muscle. It is the most important determinant of resting energy expenditure (REE) (15). Fat free mass is not a homogenous compartment; the tissues in this compartment occupy different proportions, and have unique functions and specific metabolic rates (16, 17). Even though muscle encompasses the largest proportion of the FFM compartment (> 50%), it is only responsible for 20-25% of REE (16). Conversely, organ tissue (e.g., liver, kidney, heart and brain) encompasses ~60% of REE, despite only accounting for ~7% of overall FFM mass (16, 18). Variations in both the mass and proportion of different body constituents, especially high specific metabolic rate organ mass, has the ability to explain differences in REE among healthy individuals (18-20). It may also be able to explain a portion of the variation reported in cancer patients (21, 22). Although this relationship has been previously suggested to be important in cancer patients (17), the work presented in Chapter 3 provides among the first evidence to support this hypothesis in advanced colorectal cancer patients. Dietitians should be aware of the relationship between FFM and REE in this patient population, because it can affect both nutritional requirements and treatment.

#### • Body composition assessment

Common tools to measure body composition in clinical and research settings (e.g., BIA, BOD POD®, *hydrodensitometry*) use a two compartment molecular approach, which partitions the body into two compartments, FFM and fat mass (FM), and gives a whole body measure of these tissues (23, 24). Because muscle occupies a large proportion of FFM, FFM is sometimes assumed to represent skeletal muscle. The findings in Chapter 3 clearly reveal this assumption needs to be used with caution when assessing nutritional status in colorectal cancer patients nearing the end of life because there is a redistribution of FFM from skeletal muscle to central tissues such as the tumor in the liver during this time. Therefore, increases in organ mass have the potential to overshadow a decrease in skeletal muscle or similarly, a large proportion of organ mass may hide a small musculature (e.g., sarcopenia) if only whole body FFM is measured.

When body composition assessment is deemed to be appropriate in colorectal cancer patients and with the knowledge of the possible changes in FFM components, dietitians should perhaps look beyond two compartment molecular methods. Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is a criterion standard body composition measurement tool that uses a three compartment molecular model which partitions the human body into three components: lean soft tissue (which contains muscle, organs, and other non-fat tissues excluding bone), fat mass, and bone mineral (24). Unlike the two compartment methods listed above which can only provide information at the whole body level, DXA also has the ability to

provide information on the regional composition of certain areas such as the head, trunk, and appendages. Using the appendages as a surrogate for whole body muscle is one option that could be considered. The disadvantages of DXA are that it is not commonly available in cancer settings (25) and inaccuracies could be present in cancer patients with severe edema. Although this method is a better choice, it may not be completely ideal.

Computed tomography and MRI imaging are other criterion standard tools used for body composition assessment; however, because of their cost, lack of availability, and radiation exposure with CT imaging, they are not frequently considered feasible methods in non-malignant disease or healthy individuals. These are not issues in an oncology setting because CT imaging is routinely used by physicians for diagnostic purposes (25). Dietitians working in oncology or other areas of practice where this test is routine should be educated on the ability of this method to precisely quantify body composition at the tissue organ level. Dietitians should not consider it a tool exclusively for physician use. Computed tomography imaging may be able to help dietitians to precisely assess initial body composition features which will allow for a more comprehensive nutritional assessment. When serial scans are taken, they can monitor the effectiveness of nutrition interventions. In order for this method to be integrated into dietetic practice, training programs and simplification of analysis procedures are likely needed. It should also not be forgotten that anthropometry is always a potentially useful means of acquiring some idea of muscle mass. Mid upper arm muscle circumference may be an option to assess muscle stores (26); measured values can
be compared to normative Health Canada (27) or NHANES data. Individuals falling below the 5<sup>th</sup> percentile are considered at risk for poor nutritional status (26).

#### • Resting energy expenditure

In colorectal cancer patients, the work described in Chapter 3 suggests that especially in advanced disease, there is an increase in both mass and proportion of high metabolic rate organs including liver and tumor which may be responsible for a large increase in and a substantial proportion of REE. Although patients at the very end of life would not be candidates for body composition measurement, REE assessment with indirect calorimetry, and aggressive nutritional support, this phenomenon reminds dietitians about the implications of estimating REE using prediction methods such as the Harris Benedict equation (28). It also reminds dietitians about the importance of measurement of REE with indirect calorimetry if appropriate and possible.

The Harris Benedict equation predicts REE based on height, weight, and age (28). One key drawback of this method is that it does not take into account body composition which is the largest determinant of REE. If the proportion of organ mass has a higher relative contribution, such as I demonstrated in colorectal cancer patients, these equations would underestimate REE. Alternatively, if REE was to be predicted in a sarcopenic patient compared to a non sarcopenic patient with the same organ mass, body weight, height, and age using the Harris Benedict equation, it would likely over- predict REE. The relationship between measured and predicted REE from the prospective cohort from Chapter 3 is shown in

**Figure 4-1**. Despite the  $r^2$  being 0.77, there are some individuals whose REE was not predicted accurately. In this dataset, in the two individuals where measured REE was the most under predicted by the Harris Benedict equation, the liver occupied approximately ~5.2% of FFM; in the two individuals where measured REE was the most over predicted by the Harris Benedict equation, the liver occupied ~3.1% of FFM. Differences in size and proportion of other body composition components as well as the systemic inflammatory response (29) may be additional reasons why the Harris Benedict equation may not accurately predict REE in cancer patients.

#### 4.3 Key Points for the Oncologist

Nutrition information, including body weight and composition, has been frequently ignored by physicians and oncologists. This may be due to lack of nutrition training in medical programs, the lack of consistent criteria to diagnose and treat malnutrition, the lack of knowledge or guidelines on what to do with information on nutritional status, the belief that nutrition is not important, and the lack of time to document nutrition information in medical records (12, 30-35). Despite this oversight, nutritional issues have been associated with many cancer related outcomes of interest such as surgical complications (36-39), chemotherapy toxicity (40, 41), disease recurrence (42), decreased survival (7, 43, 44) and are considered important and a source of worry to patients (12, 45).

• Oncologists should have an understanding of body weight and body composition and its effects on cancer related outcomes

Obesity and cachexia are likely the most familiar nutritional issues to oncologists. Obesity is a well known risk factor for many types of cancer (46); consequently, many patients who present for cancer treatment are obese. Obesity associates with increased likelihood of recurrence and decreased disease free survival (42). It was present in ~20% of the cohort used for the study in Chapter 2 at the time of the clinic visit. Cachexia is a well known consequence of advanced disease (47) especially after treatment is no longer effective. Both obesity and cachexia are visible by observing the patient and can be measured using BMI. However, oncologists should be aware that BMI cannot detect all nutritional abnormalities associated with risk and should understand that a normal BMI does not mean an absence of risk.

Computed tomography imaging, a tool used daily in oncology practice to provide diagnostic information and monitor the progress of treatment, has uncovered significant findings about the body composition in cancer patients as revealed in Chapter 3. In other studies, it has also revealed that sarcopenia, defined using sex specific muscularity cutpoints roughly < 2 SD below the healthy young adult mean (7, 25), is associated with decreased survival (7), and increased risk of treatment toxicity (41) in cancer patients. In the elderly, sarcopenia has been associated with poorer physical function (6) and nosocomial infections (48). Sarcopenia cannot be detected easily detected visually or by using only body weight indicators (such as BMI) as it can appear at any BMI including in patients who are obese (7).

 
 Table 4-2 presents a population based cohort of deceased colorectal
 cancer patients seen in new patient medical oncology clinics at the Cross Cancer Institute, Edmonton, Canada, (n=527) grouped by survival time. Mean BMI is a relatively stable measure; it remains consistently in the overweight category throughout all survival times. There are also substantial proportions of patients who are overweight and obese in all survival times. Underweight is not common in this cohort; even in patients who presented < 90 days from death, it was only found in 9.0% of the population. If BMI was used as the only indicator of nutritional status in this cohort, nutritional status may not appear very problematic. A different situation is uncovered when body composition is measured. The prevalence of sarcopenia in this cohort is high; it ranges from 41.7% (in patients who survived longer than 3 years) to 60.5% (in patients who survived  $\leq 90$  days). This table clearly shows that if BMI is the only indicator of nutritional status that is used, it would miss a large number of patients who are suffering from sarcopenia and compromised nutritional status.

Because abnormal body composition types such as sarcopenia are common in colorectal cancer patients, and can affect outcomes in different domains of oncology (e.g., medical oncology, surgical oncology), oncologists should be interested in using CT imaging to measure different body composition features in their patients. This information might affect how they treat patients and has the potential to explain outcomes in certain patients such as why some patients experienced chemotherapy toxicity or why others had more surgical complications. Perhaps in the future, the impact of body composition on cancer-

related outcomes and the use of CT imaging as a body composition assessment tool could be added into medical school curricula.

Because oncologists (and dietitians) may not have the practical means to work with CT images to assess body composition features, simpler methods are perhaps needed to provide this type of information. New techniques such as automated CT image analysis programs to assess muscle and adipose tissue stores (49) and linear dimensions are promising methods which have the potential to provide this information expediently and potentially at a low cost (especially for linear measurements which could be done in standard image viewing software packages). Radiologists may also be able to provide body composition information on radiology reports that are already routinely completed after CT imaging.

## • Dietitians are available to help oncologists treat nutritional issues throughout the disease trajectory

Cancer patients have evolving nutritional issues throughout the disease trajectory. Oncologists should have a good understanding of when to refer patients to see a dietitian for nutritional intervention as this may result in better treatment (e.g., decreased likelihood of treatment toxicity and recurrence) and survival outcomes. Nutrition screening tools should be systematically applied. Oncologists should also understand that nutrition goals depend on both the patient body weight and composition and their disease stage.

Obesity is known to be associated with poor outcomes listed above and there is likely some temptation by oncologists to recommend weight loss to their

obese patients. However, we also know that sarcopenia is common and associated with poor cancer related outcomes (7, 41, 50). Patients who are obese and are deemed to be in a position where weight loss would be appropriate and beneficial, should see a dietitian to be prescribed a hypocaloric, high protein diet to help ensure a preservation of skeletal muscle (51, 52). In overweight and obese head and neck cancer patients, a prophylactic percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) tube has been shown be an effective way to allow patients to slowly lose body weight so that it becomes within or closer to the healthy BMI range (53). Simply instructing patients to lose weight without supervision may result in undesirable losses of skeletal muscle protein which may lead to a worsening of sarcopenia and the poor outcomes associated with it.

Although treatments for sarcopenia are still in their infancy, nutritional therapy with higher protein diets is one option. Higher protein diets, and protein spaced evenly throughout the day (54) may help to prevent or reverse muscle loss. Further research is still required in this area.

#### 4.4 Key Points for the Health Services Researcher

Administrative health data has the potential to be an efficient and low cost way to study large populations that span diverse geographical areas and use different health facilities (55, 56). Although this data source is convenient and perhaps the only way to efficiently study large populations, it does have some disadvantages such as incompleteness and inability to capture the severity of diseases (55, 56). Specifically in relation to nutrition and body weight variables, evidence is mounting that administrative health data does not properly capture this

information (57, 58) and it has become clear that it may not be suitable for this task. It has been suggested that obesity identified in hospitalized children using administrative health data was associated with different population characteristics and health services utilization patterns compared to patients who only had obesity identified using height and weight from their medical record (57). Changes in the protocols for recording body weight information at the front line in addition to development of new ways to capturing body weight and composition information using ICD codes are likely needed to make administrative health data ready for such an endeavor.

### • Administrative health data underestimates the true prevalence of weight related conditions in cancer patients

Weight and protein-energy malnutrition recorded by ICD diagnostic codes in administrative health data has been suggested to underestimate the true population prevalence of these features (57, 58). Current information on the completeness of this data is scarce. In the work presented in Chapter 2 and others which use administrative health data to calculate the Elixhauser comorbidity measure, obesity is reported to be prevalent in 1–5% of the population (10, 59-61) even in diseases where obesity is a risk factor (e.g., type 2 diabetes) while overall population prevalence rates are typically > 20% (5).

This poor capture may be the result of several possible causes (55) including improper coding and failure to identify diagnosis by the health records personnel, but the more plausible cause is likely due to missing documentation of body weight, its change, and interpretation in patient medical records. Of specific

interest to health services researchers is that the completeness of administrative health data is verified according to medical record (55). However, if weight related variables are not recorded and/or are not interpreted compared to any standard (such as recording BMI and its classification according to the WHO guidelines (62) instead of just recording height and weight, which would not give any indication there is a problem) in patient medical records, this method would not identify a discrepancy.

Health services researchers should be aware of poor capture of weight related variables and use them with caution in population based studies, such as for the identification of patient cohorts. The probable first step to better capture is to ensure health professionals record body weight information routinely and an interpretation in patient medical records. In order for this to happen, the importance of these variables and their ability to predict outcomes of interest needs to be emphasized to physicians and other health professionals. Also, perhaps incentives are needed to capture this information.

# • International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes for body weight related diagnoses may need modification

To make administrative health data more useful for the study of weight related conditions, modification of the current ICD diagnostic codes for these features may be necessary. The current codes as they stand do not allow for the collection of useful body weight related data. One issue is that the ICD diagnostic codes for abnormalities in body weight contain no severity indicator or if they do contain a severity indicator, it is difficult to use. Specifically for weight loss,

there are codes to define abnormal weight loss (ICD 10: R63.4) and abnormal weight gain (ICD 10: R63.5), however, there are no criteria on the magnitude of change that needs to occur to use this code. Oncologists have trouble determining important degrees of weight loss in cancer patients (35) and this also seems to be due to the absence of a clear and widely accepted grading system for weight loss. The current code format does not allow discrimination of 5%, 10%, 20% or even larger weight losses.

The current codes available to track abnormalities in body weight are perhaps also in need of revision. There are codes available to capture obesity (ICD 10: E66) but they have been described to be problematic (63, 64). Perhaps one way to better capture body weight information would be to have a grading system for body weight (such as codes for different WHO BMI (62) categories) and a grading system indicating the percentage of weight change. A new obesity clinical staging system which accounts for both BMI and obesity related comorbidities (64) might be another option to consider.

The other issue with the ICD body weight codes specifically relevant for cancer is that there is no code specifically for cancer cachexia. For very low body weights, there are codes for cachexia (not including nutritional marasmus, cancer cachexia and HIV disease resulting in wasting syndrome) (ICD 10: R64) and HIV disease resulting in wasting syndrome (ICD 10: B22.2). Cancer cachexia is considered part of the code for malignant neoplasm without specification to site (ICD 10: C80). Therefore, tracking cancer cachexia with ICD codes in their

current form is therefore nearly impossible. Cancer cachexia could be considered as a candidate to have its own unique code.

With knowledge that sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity may be associated with poor outcomes including poor performance status (6) and nosocomial infections (48) in the elderly and poor survival (7) and treatment toxicity (40, 41) in cancer patients, it is important that ICD codes are available to capture this information. Currently, no ICD diagnostic codes are available to capture sarcopenia. With increased consensus on how to define this condition (4, 65) this seems like a worthwhile and perhaps feasible addition. Without addition of these codes, study of the impact of these features at the population level would not be possible.

### Tables

Table 4-1: The prevalence of Elixhauser comorbidities (CM) and their relationship with the presence of
sarcopenia, underweight, and obesity in colorectal cancer patients seen in new patient medical oncology
clinics (n=489)

	n (%) with CM	Sarcopenia† (n=221)		BMI < 20 (n=34)		Obesity (BMI > 30) (n=97)	
		n (%) of sarcopenic	Univariate OR [95% CI]	n (%) of underweight	Univariate OR [95% CI]	n (%) of obese	Univariate OR [95% CI]
		patients who have CM		patients who have CM		patients who have CM	
Congestive Heart Failure	16 (3.3)	7 (3.2)	0.94 [0.35, 2.6]	2 (5.9)	2.0 [0.43, 9.0]	5 (5.2)	1.9 [0.64, 5.6]
Cardiac arrhythmias	44 (9.0)	26 (11.8)	1.9 [0.99, 3.5]	3 (8.8)	0.98 [0.29, 3.3]	6 (6.2)	0.61 [0.25, 1.5]
Valvular disease	8 (1.6)	5 (2.3)	2.0 [0.48, 8.7]	0 (0)	_*	1 (1.0)	0.57 [0.070, 4.7]
Pulmonary circulation disorders	8 (1.6)	5 (2.3)	2.0 [0.48, 8.7]	3 (8.8)	8.7 [2.0, 38.1]	1 (1.0)	0.57 [0.070, 4.7]
Hypertension without complications	126 (25.8)	61 (27.6)	1.2 [0.79, 1.8]	5 (14.7)	0.48 [0.18, 1.3]	29 (29.9)	1.3 [0.79, 2.1]
Hypertension with complications	9 (1.8)	7 (3.2)	4.4 [0.90, 21.2]	3 (8.8)	7.2 [1.7, 30.4]	2 (2.1)	1.2 [0.24, 5.7]
Other neurological disorders	10 (2.0)	6 (2.7)	1.8 [0.51, 6.6]	2 (5.9)	3.5 [0.71, 17.1]	1 (1.0)	0.443 [0.055, 3.5]
Chronic pulmonary disease	29 (5.9)	14 (6.3)	1.1 [0.54, 2.4]	5 (14.7)	3.1 [1.1, 8.7]	5 (5.2)	0.83 [0.31, 2.2]
Diabetes without complications	59 (12.1)	31 (14.0)	1.4 [0.81, 2.4]	2 (5.9)	0.44 [0.10, 1.9]	12 (12.4)	1.0 [0.53, 2.0]

	n (%) with	Sarcopenia†		BMI < 20		Obesity (BMI > 30)	
	CIVI	(n=221)		(n=34)		( <b>n=9</b> 7)	
		n (%) of	Univariate OR	n (%) of	Univariate OR	n (%) of	Univariate OR
		sarcopenic	[95% CI]	underweight	[95% CI]	obese	[95% CI]
		patients who		patients who		patients who	
		have CM		have CM		have CM	
Diabetes with	5 (1.0)	2 (0.9)	0.81	0 (0)	_*	3 (3.1)	6.2
complications			[0.13, 4.9]				[1.0, 37.8]
Hypothyroidism	27 (5.5)	14 (6.3)	1.3	4 (11.8)	2.5	6 (6.2)	1.2
			[0.61, 2.9]		[0.81, 7.7]		[0.46, 3.0]
Renal failure	8 (1.6)	7 (3.2)	8.7	3 (8.8)	8.7	2 (2.1)	1.4
			[1.1, 71.5]		[2.0, 38.1]		[0.27, 6.8]
Liver disease	8 (1.6)	4 (1.8)	1.2	1 (2.9)	1.9	1 (1.0)	0.57
			[0.30, 4.9]		[0.23, 16.2]		[0.070, 4.7]
Fluid & electrolyte	24 (4.9)	14 (6.3)	1.7	2 (5.9)	1.2	1 (1.0)	0.17
disorders			[0.76, 4.0]		[0.28, 5.5]		[0.022, 1.3]
Blood loss anemia	5 (1.0)	2 (0.9)	0.81	0 (0)	_*	2 (2.1)	2.7
			[0.13, 4.9]				[0.45, 16.6]
Deficiency anemia	24 (4.9)	14 (6.3)	1.7	3 (8.8)	2.0	2 (2.1)	0.35
			[0.76, 4.0]		[0.56, 7.1]		[0.082, 1.5]
Depression	14 (2.9)	5 (2.3)	0.67	2 (5.9)	2.3	2 (2.1)	0.67
			[0.22, 2.0]		[0.50, 10.8]		[0.15, 3.0]

Numbers in **bold** represent significant values (p < 0.05)

The following Elixhauser comorbidities were dropped due to low counts (i.e.,  $\leq 3$  patients affected in the overall sample): peripheral vascular disorders, paralysis, peptic ulcer disease, rheumatoid arthritis, coagulopathy, drug abuse, alcohol abuse, psychosis, and HIV/AIDS. †Sarcopenia was measured using the method and cutpoints described by Prado et al. (41). CT scans were taken on average  $24 \pm 22$  days from the new patient medical oncology clinic visit date.

\*Cannot be calculated.

	Time to death						
	$\leq 90d$ (n=67)	91d-180d (n=56)	181d-365d (n=111)	366d-545d (n=98)	545d-730d (n=61)	730d-1095d (n=73)	≥ 1096d (n=61)
Mean BMI	25.4	25.6	25.2	25.4	26.1	25.9	27.3
WHO BMI Categories (%)							
< 18.5	9.0	7.1	4.5	5.1	1.6	2.7	1.6
18.5-24.9	43.3	46.4	50.5	45.9	42.6	46.6	36.1
25.0-29.9	29.9	28.6	31.5	31.6	34.4	37.0	37.7
$\geq$ 30	17.9	17.9	13.5	17.3	21.3	13.7	24.6
Body Composition							
Sarcopenia (%)	60.5	50.0	61.1	52.5	47.6	54.2	41.7

Table 4-2: Body weight and composition characteristics in deceased colorectal cancer patients seen in new patient medical oncology clinics categorized by time to death (n=527)

Figures





### References

1. Canadian Cancer Society's Steering Committee. Canadian Cancer Society Statistics 2010. Toronto: Canadian Cancer Society, 2010.

2. Yancik R, Wesley MN, Ries LA, et al. Comorbidity and age as predictors of risk for early mortality of male and female colon carcinoma patients: a population-based study. Cancer 1998;82:2123-34.

3. Strasser F, Bruera ED. Update on anorexia and cachexia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 2002;16:589-617.

4. Muscaritoli M, Anker SD, Argiles J, et al. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics". Clin Nutr 2010;29:154-9.

5. Tjepkema M. Adult obesity in Canada: Measured height and weight. Ottawa: Statistics Canada, 2005.

6. Baumgartner RN, Koehler KM, Gallagher D, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. Am J Epidemiol 1998;147:755-63.

7. Prado CM, Lieffers JR, McCargar LJ, et al. Prevalence and clinical implications of sarcopenic obesity in patients with solid tumours of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2008;9:629-35.

8. Muscaritoli M, Molfino A, Bollea MR, Rossi Fanelli F. Malnutrition and wasting in renal disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2009;12:378-83.

9. Kortebein P, Ferrando A, Lombeida J, Wolfe R, Evans WJ. Effect of 10 days of bed rest on skeletal muscle in healthy older adults. JAMA 2007;297:1772-4.

10. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. Med Care 1998;36:8-27.

11. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40:373-83.

12. Orrevall Y, Tishelman C, Herrington MK, Permert J. The path from oral nutrition to home parenteral nutrition: a qualitative interview study of the experiences of advanced cancer patients and their families. Clin Nutr 2004;23:1280-7.

13. Eberhardie C. Nutrition support in palliative care. Nurs Stand 2002;17:47,52; quiz 54-5.

14. Acreman S. Nutrition in palliative care. Br J Community Nurs 2009;14:427,8, 430-1.

15. Miller AT, Blyth CS. Lean body mass as a metabolic reference standard. J Appl Physiol 1953;5:311-6.

16. Elia M. Organ and tissue contribution to metabolic rate. In: Kinney, J and Tucker, H, eds. Energy metabolism: Tissue determinants and cellular corollaries. New York, New York: Raven Press, 1992:

17. Elia M. Tissue Distribution and Energetics in Weight Loss and Undernutrition. In: Kinney, J and Tucker, H, eds. Physiology, Stress, and Malnutrition: Functional Correlates, Nutritional Intervention. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997:

18. Gallagher D, Belmonte D, Deurenberg P, et al. Organ-tissue mass measurement allows modeling of REE and metabolically active tissue mass. Am J Physiol 1998;275:E249-58.

19. Illner K, Brinkmann G, Heller M, Bosy-Westphal A, Muller MJ. Metabolically active components of fat free mass and resting energy expenditure in nonobese adults. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000;278:E308-15.

20. Muller MJ, Bosy-Westphal A, Kutzner D, Heller M. Metabolically active components of fat-free mass and resting energy expenditure in humans: recent lessons from imaging technologies. Obes Rev 2002;3:113-22.

21. Knox LS, Crosby LO, Feurer ID, Buzby GP, Miller CL, Mullen JL. Energy expenditure in malnourished cancer patients. Ann Surg 1983;197:152-62.

22. Johnson G, Salle A, Lorimier G, et al. Cancer cachexia: measured and predicted resting energy expenditures for nutritional needs evaluation. Nutrition 2008;24:443-50.

23. Dempster P, Aitkens S. A new air displacement method for the determination of human body composition. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1995;27:1692-7.

24. Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Baumgartner RN, Ross R. Human body composition: advances in models and methods. Annu Rev Nutr 1997;17:527-58.

25. Mourtzakis M, Prado CM, Lieffers JR, Reiman T, McCargar LJ, Baracos VE. A practical and precise approach to quantification of body composition in cancer patients using computed tomography images acquired during routine care. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2008;33:997-1006.

26. Chicago Dietetic Association, The South Suburban Dietetic Association, Dietitians of Canada. Manual of Clinical Dietetics. 6th ed. Chicago: American Dietetic Association, 2000.

27. Jette M. Guide for Anthropometric Classification Measurements of Canadian Adults. Montreal: CT Management & Consultant, 1983.

28. Harris JA, Benedict FG. A Biometric Study of Human Basal Metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1918;4:370-3.

29. Falconer JS, Fearon KC, Plester CE, Ross JA, Carter DC. Cytokines, the acute-phase response, and resting energy expenditure in cachectic patients with pancreatic cancer. Ann Surg 1994;219:325-31.

30. Chaturvedi P, Kabra V. The role of nutrition in oncology: a need for a change of attitude and curriculum. J Cancer Educ 2006;21:89,91; discussion 92-4.

31. Lennard-Jones JE, Arrowsmith H, Davison C, Denham AF, Micklewright A. Screening by nurses and junior doctors to detect malnutrition when patients are first assessed in hospital. Clin Nutr 1995;14:336-40.

32. McWhirter JP, Pennington CR. Incidence and recognition of malnutrition in hospital. BMJ 1994;308:945-8.

33. Rasmussen HH, Kondrup J, Ladefoged K, Staun M. Clinical nutrition in danish hospitals: a questionnaire-based investigation among doctors and nurses. Clin Nutr 1999;18:153-8.

34. van Bokhorst-de van der Schueren, M.A., Klinkenberg M, Thijs A. Profile of the malnourished patient. Eur J Clin Nutr 2005;59:1129-35.

35. Spiro A, Baldwin C, Patterson A, Thomas J, Andreyev HJ. The views and practice of oncologists towards nutritional support in patients receiving chemotherapy. Br J Cancer 2006;95:431-4.

36. Ishii Y, Hasegawa H, Nishibori H, Watanabe M, Kitajima M. Impact of visceral obesity on surgical outcome after laparoscopic surgery for rectal cancer. Br J Surg 2005;92:1261-2.

37. Seki Y, Ohue M, Sekimoto M, et al. Evaluation of the technical difficulty performing laparoscopic resection of a rectosigmoid carcinoma: visceral fat reflects technical difficulty more accurately than body mass index. Surg Endosc 2007;21:929-34.

38. Tsujinaka S, Konishi F, Kawamura YJ, et al. Visceral obesity predicts surgical outcomes after laparoscopic colectomy for sigmoid colon cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2008;51:1757,65; discussion 1765-7.

39. Sakai T, Maekawa T, Mikami K, Kuramochi H, Noda S. Visceral fat volume and surgical outcomes of colorectal resection. Int Surg 2009;94:370-2.

40. Prado CM, Baracos VE, McCargar LJ, et al. Body composition as an independent determinant of 5-fluorouracil-based chemotherapy toxicity. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:3264-8.

41. Prado CM, Baracos VE, McCargar LJ, et al. Sarcopenia as a determinant of chemotherapy toxicity and time to tumor progression in metastatic breast cancer patients receiving capecitabine treatment. Clin Cancer Res 2009;15:2920-6.

42. Dignam JJ, Polite BN, Yothers G, et al. Body mass index and outcomes in patients who receive adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:1647-54.

43. Moon HG, Ju YT, Jeong CY, et al. Visceral obesity may affect oncologic outcome in patients with colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2008;15:1918-22.

44. Dewys WD, Begg C, Lavin PT, et al. Prognostic effect of weight loss prior to chemotherapy in cancer patients. Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Med 1980;69:491-7.

45. Patella MN, Goldin D, Aggujaro M, et al. Nutritional concerns of cancer patients and their families. Mediterr J Nutr Metab 2009;1:171-9.

46. Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet 2008;371:569-78.

47. Baracos VE. Cancer-associated cachexia and underlying biological mechanisms. Annu Rev Nutr 2006;26:435-61.

48. Cosqueric G, Sebag A, Ducolombier C, Thomas C, Piette F, Weill-Engerer S. Sarcopenia is predictive of nosocomial infection in care of the elderly. Br J Nutr 2006;96:895-901.

49. Chung H, Cobzas D, Birdsell L, Lieffers J, Baracos V. Automated segmentation of muscle and adipose tissue on CT images for human body composition analysis. Proc SPIE 2009;7261:72610K.

50. Baracos VE, Reiman T, Mourtzakis M, Gioulbasanis I, Antoun S. Body composition in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a contemporary view of cancer cachexia with the use of computed tomography image analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;91:1133S-7S.

51. Layman DK, Boileau RA, Erickson DJ, et al. A reduced ratio of dietary carbohydrate to protein improves body composition and blood lipid profiles during weight loss in adult women. J Nutr 2003;133:411-7.

52. Gordon MM, Bopp MJ, Easter L, et al. Effects of dietary protein on the composition of weight loss in post-menopausal women. J Nutr Health Aging 2008;12:505-9.

53. Raykher A, Correa L, Russo L, et al. The role of pretreatment percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy in facilitating therapy of head and neck cancer and optimizing the body mass index of the obese patient. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2009;33:404-10.

54. Paddon-Jones D, Rasmussen BB. Dietary protein recommendations and the prevention of sarcopenia. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2009;12:86-90.

55. De Coster C, Quan H, Finlayson A, et al. Identifying priorities in methodological research using ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data: report from an international consortium. BMC Health Serv Res 2006;6:77.

56. Roos LL, Gupta S, Soodeen RA, Jebamani L. Data quality in an informationrich environment: Canada as an example. Can J Aging 2005;24 Suppl 1:153-70.

57. Woo JG, Zeller MH, Wilson K, Inge T. Obesity identified by discharge ICD-9 codes underestimates the true prevalence of obesity in hospitalized children. J Pediatr 2009;154:327-31.

58. Bocock MA, Keller HH. Hospital diagnosis of malnutrition: a call for action. Can J Diet Pract Res 2009;70:37-41.

59. Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, et al. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care 2005;43:1130-9.

60. Johnston JA, Wagner DP, Timmons S, Welsh D, Tsevat J, Render ML. Impact of different measures of comorbid disease on predicted mortality of intensive care unit patients. Med Care 2002;40:929-40.

61. Li B, Evans D, Faris P, Dean S, Quan H. Risk adjustment performance of Charlson and Elixhauser comorbidities in ICD-9 and ICD-10 administrative databases. BMC Health Serv Res 2008;8:12.

62. World Health Organization. Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. Report of a WHO Consultation on Obesity. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2000.

63. Sharma A. ICD-10 Classification of Obesity: Can Someone Please Explain? Internet: http://www.drsharma.ca/icd-10-classification-of-obesity-can-someone-please-explain.html (accessed 04/19 2010).

64. Sharma AM, Kushner RF. A proposed clinical staging system for obesity. Int J Obes (Lond) 2009;33:289-95.

65. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age Ageing 2010;